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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

M ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO
Commission File Number 001-8833

HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its cher}

Tennesse 62-144355¢%
(State or other jurisdiction ¢ (I.R.S. Employer Identification Nc¢
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209 10th Avenue South, Suite 450 37203
Nashville, Tennesse (Zip Code)
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(Registrant’s telephone number, including area gode

Securities Registered Pursuant To Section 12(b) Qhe Act:
None

Securities Registered Pursuant To Section 12(g) Qhe Act:
Common Stock, No Par Value

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiech shorter period that the registrant was redquodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastfgs. Yes® No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiélers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgedéfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 111 of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iseselerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act RiZb-2). YesOO No M

The aggregate market value of the Common Stoclkedsand outstanding and held by non-affiliates efRegistrant, based upon the closing
sales price for the Common Stock on the NASDAQ dd&ti Market on June 30, 2004 was $26,701,267.¥dtetive officers and directors
the registrant have been deemed, solely for thegser of the foregoing calculation, to be “affilisitef the registrant.

As of March 15, 2005, there were 20,700,620 shafréise Registrant’s common stock outstanding.
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Portions of the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Staét for its 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholdersiacorporated by reference into Part IlI
hereof.




Table of Contents
HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

PART |

Item 1. Busines

Item 2. Propertie

Item 3. Legal Proceedin(

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Secutblders

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registra’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters asddsPurchases Of Equity Securi
Item 6. Selected Financial De

Item 7. Manageme’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operatior

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosurdsofit Market Risk

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountan#sconunting and Financial Disclost

Item 9A. Controls and Procedur

Item 9B. Other Informatio

PART Il

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of thegR&ant

Item 11. Executive Compensati

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficiali@rs and Management and Related Stockholder M
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Traiwmas

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Serv

PART IV
ltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schec

Signatures
Ex-10.9 Form of Director Stock Option Agreem:
Ex-10.10 Form of Employees and Executive Officer StOgkion Agreemer
Ex-10.11 Form of Cash Bonus PI
Ex-23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LL
Ex-31.1 Section 302 Certification of the CE
Ex-31.2 Section 302 Certification of the CI
Ex-32.1 Section 906 Certification of the CE
Ex-32.2 Section 906 Certification of the ClI

Page

15
15
15

16
16
17
28
29
47
47
47

47
47
47
47
47

48

49




Table of Contents
PART |

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statetsewithin the meaning of Section 21E of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934. Such
forward-looking statements include, among othdrssé statements including the words “expects,’i€grdtes,” “intends,” “believes,” “may,”
“will,” “should,” “continue” and similar languagerdhe negative of such terms or other comparabieit®logy. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in the forward-looking statats are reasonable, HealthStream’s actual remajdiffer significantly from those
projected in the forward-looking statements. Factbhat might cause or contribute to such differengelude, but are not limited to, those
discussed in the section “Risk Factors” and elsegvirethis document. In addition, factors that we 1@ot currently aware of could harm our
future operating results. You should carefully esvithe risks described in other documents Heakda§irfiles from time to time with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. You are caadioot to place undue reliance on forward-lookitagesnents, which speak only as of
the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Hesitham undertakes no obligation to publicly releasgrevisions to the forward-looking
statements or reflect events or circumstances thitedate of this document.

Item 1. Business
OVERVIEW AND HISTORY

HealthStream, Inc. (“HealthStream” or the “Compgnytovides Internebased solutions and services to meet the traimdgeducation nee:
of the healthcare industry. Our learning solutiars helping healthcare organizations to improvepiamce, develop their workforce, and
reduce risks. Focused primarily on healthcare drgdions (HCO) and pharmaceutical and medical degampanies (PMD), HealthStream’s
customers are comprised of over 1,000 healthcgranaations (predominately acute-care facilitibsptighout the United States and include
relationships with some of the top medical devied pharmaceutical companies.

The Company'’s flagship product is the “HealthStrdagarning Center™,” our proprietary, Internet-baksining platform, which currently
has approximately 1,168,000 contracted hospita¢dasibscribers. We released Competency Compass®jina performance assessment
and management solution, HealthStrédaxpress, a scaled-down version of our Internetdbéesarning platform, and HospitalDire®t a
software application that delivers product trainindnospitals, during 2003. Services provided td an behalf of pharmaceutical and medical
device companies include live and online educadioth training activities for healthcare professisnak well as medical industry sales
representatives. Medical device companies provédeécd training within hospitals through our Hosliiaect R platform, and along with
pharmaceutical companies, also provide commeragbart for some of our continuing education adtgt

Headquartered in Nashville, Tennessee, the Comwasyincorporated in 1990 and began marketing tesmet-based solutions in
March 1999. Including a satellite office in Denv€glorado, HealthStream has 146 employees. Froimitzad focus on technology-based
training, HealthStream has evolved to provide $eltvice delivery of training and education for tealthcare industry. The Company
completed its initial public offering (IPO) in Apiof 2000.

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND

According to the Centers for Medicare and Medi@edvices (CMS), the healthcare industry exceeddiitéillion of spending in 2004, or
approximately 15 percent of the gross domesticyrbdospital care expenditures accounted for $186n, or 31%, of the $1.6 trillion
industry. Approximately 10.4 million professionase employed in the healthcare segment of the dirreeonomy, with slightly more than
half, or 5.6 million, employed in healthcare orgaations, our target market for the HealthStreanrieg Center™ and HospitalDiregt

The 5.6 million healthcare organization professismaedominately work in the nation’s approximat®&/@00 acute-care hospitals, and are
required by federal mandates and accrediting bdadig®in in a number of areas. This training ines safety training mandated by both the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OgHsd the Joint Commission on Accreditation of ezre Organizations, or JCAHO,
for all institutional-based healthcare workers &il &s training on patient information confidentiakequired under the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

In hospitals, staffing issues and personnel shegthgwve also contributed to the need for enhancekfevce development as well as
additional competency based training. The AmeriCaliege of Healthcare Executives reported in Oat@d84 that 72% of hospital CEOs
were experiencing a nursing shortage at theirifesl According to U.S. Bureau of Labor StatistiEebruary 2004) Monthly Labor Review,
more than one million new and replacement nursédwineeded by 2012. For the first time, the UDEpartment of Labor has identified
Registered Nursing as the top occupation in terifabogrowth through the year 2012. As reportedh®/American Journal of Nursing

(April 2003), offering training and educational @pfunities to hospital personnel is increasinglyoramended as a retention and recruitment
incentive.
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In addition, to keep abreast of the latest develmnand meet licensing, certification, and credéng requirements, many healthcare
professionals must obtain continuing education.t@amg education requirements include continuidgaation for nurses, emergency
medical services personnel, first responder perorediologic personnel and physicians. Pharmécawnd medical device companies v
also provide their medical industry sales represerms with training mandated for the healthcadkgiry and training for new products. They
also provide support for education and trainingtfmse audiences that use their products in heathmrganizations.

Finally, the hospital industry continues to opetateler intense pressure to reduce costs as a oésattuctions in government reimbursement
and increased focus on cost containment consigigmparticipation of patients in managed care paogs. In addition, hospitals, as well as
pharmaceutical and medical device companies contim@xperience rising operating costs, coupletl imitreased pressure to measure and
report on the outcomes of the dollars spent onitrgi Our products and services are designed tad thege needs by reducing healthcare
organizations’ costs of training while improvingtaing outcomes, enhancing reporting capabilities, supporting customers’ business
objectives.

HEALTHSTREAM'S SOLUTIONS
Services to healthcare organizations

HealthStream’s solutions help healthcare orgarminatmeet their ongoing training, education, andp@nce needs. We bring training and
education content together with administrative ar@hagement tools through our Internet-based ptatftirte HealthStream Learning
Center™ (HLC) and HealthStredhiExpress. This combination supports healthcare adtramors in configuring training to meet the peeci
needs of different groups of employees, modifyiagning materials, and documenting that training been completed. At December 31,
2004, 1,168,000 healthcare professionals had aiattaubscriptions for our services. Pricing far HLC is subscription based, with fees
based on the number of users, content providectred factors. We offer training, implementatiord atcount management services to
facilitate integration of this technology produetd our customer’s operating environments. Feef&iming are based on the time and efforts
of the personnel involved.

Our online content is hosted in a central dataegehit allows end users Internet access to HL@cea, thereby eliminating the need for
onsite local implementations of installed learnmgnagement products. As a result, a significantbarrof our customers that historically
used our installed learning management products tramsitioned to our Internet-based platform. Datalled learning management software
contracts historically consisted of an upfronttise fee, additional content sales, and ongoingter@mce and support. Although we no
longer actively sell our installed learning managatrproducts, we continue to provide these custsmiegoing maintenance and support.
continue to provide our installed learning managansestomers with product updates and are loolargrévide additional content access
capabilities to these customers.

We also offer our customers an online competensgsasnent and performance management solution, GenggeCompass™. Competency
assessment is a requirement of hospitals and kaadtlorganizations for maintaining accreditaticasdsl on new JCAHO requirements to
evaluate, document, and report performance comgeterirfhe Competency Compdsprovides an effective means of determining which
competencies are associated with each positioraadating and documenting competency assessnientacilitate this process, a
comprehensive dictionary of job profiles used ialttecare organizations is included in Competencin@ass™ that lists corresponding
competencies associated with each of those johbs.pFbduct is intended to facilitate a custom tiragrprogram of courses available through
the HLC that uniquely responds to the needs idedtfior individual employees.

Along with the Internet-based HLC, we also offealtfecare organizations full-service capabilitiesbmvert existing course materials to a
Web-enabled format through our HealthStream Auttgp@enter™. Pricing for this product is subscriptimsed, with fees based on the
number of users and a separate fee for licenses.

Our strategy is to expand our content offerings @heér services to existing customers and growegisting customer base of approximately
1,168,000 contracted subscribers using the Intdras¢d HLC, while continuing to transition our aiktd learning management product
customers to our Internet-based HLC. We believeesisting sales force and market conditions offethe opportunity to continue to grow
our HLC customer base.

Services to pharmaceutical and medical device compies

Our services to pharmaceutical companies and meatbeice companies include live and online educati@and training activities for
healthcare professionals, as well as online trgifdn medical industry sales representatives. Aaamedited provider of continuing educal
activities for physicians, nurses, pharmacistsathdr healthcare professionals, our services imchldnning, development, implementation
and administration of these activities. Servicedif@ activities can further include developmehtourse agendas, coordination of subject
matter experts, preparation of course material$ ragistration of attendees. Pricing for live aityigervices are based on the scope of the
project, including the size of the event, numbeatténdees and other factors. Live educationalities

2






Table of Contents

also include preceptorships and proctorships faoua specialties that take place within the h@ghvironment. Preceptorships and
proctorships are live interactive activities withall groups of healthcare professionals, desigogatdvide them with supervised experience
in a clinical environment. Pricing for these adtag is usually based on a per attendee basisn@fiar online activities varies from project to
project, and is based on time and efforts of thregrenel involved. Mandated training for manufactwaes force personnel is priced on a per
user basis. We also offer both live and archivedh\d&sts of medical procedures, thought-leader d&sons, and other events in a cost
effective manner to facilitate the provision ofitiiag or continuing education. In addition, we aivelop custom courseware for our
customers’ specific training needs. Pricing forstheervices is generally based on time and effortdved. Our development group
responsible for such services includes programnesuctional and multimedia designers, graphiists; and project managers. In addition
to our development employees, we also utilize thady resources as needed. Live and online cangireducation activities may be
supported by an educational grant by a pharmaegutianedical device company. Fees or the amoutiteofirant vary based on the scope of
the event, the target audience, publicity and gbleeipheral services related to the event.

HospitalDirect?, introduced in 2003, is intended to leverage alnssriber network of hospital-based personnel biyeling online product
training and other educational activities through lmternet-based HLC. Pricing charged to mediesice and pharmaceutical companies
includes initial content development services anzsequent subscription pricing based on the numibleospital facilities selected to receive
the training and education.

We also provide live educational activities for s&s and technicians conducted within healthcaranizgtions, as well as continuing
education study guides and educational activitrethe exhibit floor at the annual AORN (AssociatmfrPeriOperative Registered Nurses)
Congress. All of these activities are supporteéibyer pharmaceutical or medical device compaes.strategy includes expanding our
revenues by further developing customer relatiqggeshind by leveraging our existing base of Intebasted HLC customers for deployment of
pharmaceutical and medical device training and &iilure through both existing products as well asettgyment of new products.

ACQUISITIONS

We acquired seven companies between 2000 and Z0adate, our acquisitions have focused on addiodymts or services, increasing our
customer base and/or providing enabling technofotiiat are complementary to our existing businé&sbelieve we have recognized
economies of scale through acquisitions in mariketshich we already had a presence. In additionhaxe expanded our product and service
offerings by leveraging products that can operateur existing technology platform. To date, aljaisitions have been accounted for using
the purchase method of accounting.

CUSTOMERS

We provide our training and education solutionsustomers across a broad range of entities wittérhealthcare industry, including
healthcare organizations (including governmenties)i and pharmaceutical and medical device conegakliie derived approximately 15%
net revenue from HCA, Inc. during both 2004 and3@uring both 2004 and 2003, no other customgnesented more than 10% of our net
revenue. The following is a partial list of custasthat have purchased or contracted for productssarvices from HealthStream.

Healthcare Organizations Pharmaceutical and Medical Device Companies
HCA Inc. Cordis Endovascular Division of Cordis Corporat
Tenet Healthcare Corporati Aesculap Inc

CHRISTUS Healtt Biogenldec, Inc

Waterbury Hospita McKesson Corporatio

SALES, MARKETING, AND CUSTOMER SUPPORT

We market our products and services primarily tgroaur direct sales force. As of December 31, 2004 sales and relationship
management personnel consisted of approximategngioyees based at our corporate headquarterssimvilla, Tennessee and in Denver,
Colorado, as well as remote home office sales imest Our geographically dispersed field sales wimgion is divided into teams focused on
our hospital audience and our pharmaceutical ardicaledevice audience. In addition to sales pradesds, we also employ account
managers who work to develop and expand relatipsshicluding contract renewals, with our hospitadtomers, and program managers
are responsible for services associated with phagatecal and medical device customers.

We conduct a variety of marketing programs to premaur products and services, including productlogs, user groups and trade shows,
online promotion and demonstrations, telemarketggpaigns, public relations, distribution of prodsigecific literature, direct mail and
advertising. Annually, we host a national usersugrin Nashville known as “The Summit”. We haveimmouse marketing team that is
responsible for these initiatives and for workinghwand supporting, our product managers and $aies. We also have an heuse researc
team focused on ensuring that our sales profedsibiase appropriate market and target information.
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We believe our ability to establish and maintaingéerm customer relationships, adoption of our préglacd services and recurring sales
dependent on the strength of our customer sergferations and support team. Our customer sempErations and support team consists of
approximately 29 employees located in our corpdnagdquarters in Nashville. This team providesasust support to end users through a
toll-free telephone line as well as electronic mailir representatives are trained to understanghilosophy, our products and services, and
our specific sales, marketing and support issulis. fEam also maintains an ongoing dialog withaustomer base to ensure a complete
understanding of customer needs. These persorsweasasist with ongoing issues and training of @adpcts as well as to ensure anticipated
renewals and incremental sales are achieved. Thameng personnel on this team are responsiblédaring, implementation and support of
HLC, HealthStrean® Express, and installed learning management customer

TECHNOLOGY MANAGEMENT

Our services are designed to be secure, reliabteegpandable. Our software is a combination oppetary and commercially-available
software and operating systems. This combinaticsofifvare supports acquisition and conversion oteat, hosting and management of that
content, publication of our Web sites, downloadsairseware, registration, tracking of users, aparting of information for both internal
and external use. We designed our services to &bl component to be independently scaled by gadimmercially-available hardware
and a combination of commercially-available andppietary software components.

Our network infrastructure, Web sites, and serttas deliver our services are hosted by third paroviders. Our primary data center and
hosting facility is in Chicago, while a second degmter and hosting facility in Nashville (with@cend vendor) was added in 2004. We are
not currently serving customers out of the secarstihg facility, but we continue to work to configuthis location as a disaster recovery
facility. Both providers maintain our equipmentairsecure environment, including multiple redundasan power sources and network
connections. Our providers’ hosting centers araeoted to the Internet through multiple, redundagih-speed fiber optic circuits. Company
personnel monitor all servers, networks, and systema continuous basis. Together with our progidee employ several levels of
enterprise firewall systems to protect our databasgestomer information, and content library. Baukof customer data are performed on a
daily basis. Data is secured at a remote locatioa weekly basis.

COMPETITION

The healthcare education industry is highly fragteénvaries significantly in delivery methodse , written materials, live events, satellite
broadcasts, video, CD-ROM products and online petejuand is composed of a wide variety of entitiesipeting for customers. The sheer
volume of healthcare information available to $gteontinuing education needs, rapid advances idicaédevelopments, and the time
constraints that healthcare professionals face ntak#icult to quickly and efficiently access tlo@ntinuing education content most relevant
to an individual’'s practice or profession. Histatlg, healthcare professionals have received caimgeducation and training through offline
publications, such as medical journals and CD-RQavig, by attending conferences and seminars. Iniaddother healthcare workers and
pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturetessnd internal regulatory personnel usually fiutieir education and training needs
through instructor-led programs from external vasdw internal training departments. While thesgragches satisfy the ongoing
requirements, they are limited in that they arédgity costly and inconvenient. In addition, liveurses are often limited in the breadth of
offerings and do not provide a method for trackirggning completion. The related results of theaditional methods, both from a business
and compliance standpoint, are difficult to trackl aneasure.

In addition to the competing delivery methods diésat above, we also have direct competitors. A remolb companies offer competitive
installed and Web based learning management pretiutihe healthcare industry. We also compete laitie scale learning management
system providers such as SABA, SumTotal Systemisiglédnd Thomson Delmar that provide their servicasiultiple industries, including
healthcare. Finally, over the past year we have s¢en an increase in a teaming approach betweesnltng and technology entities to
address larger scale projects.

We believe our solutions, which include both prddwand services that facilitate training for hegdtte professionals, a wide assortment of
content, a mechanism for measuring results, andlhi#y to provide all our services on a singlatfirm over the Internet, provide us with a
competitive advantage. We believe that the prifapapetitive factors affecting the marketing dearning services to the healthcare
industry include:

® features of the HLC product, including reportingamagement functionality, courseware assignmenigisitisy, and the ability to
track utilization and result:

® scope and variety of Internet-based learning caraeailable, including mandated content for OSHBABO, patient safety, and
HIPAA requirements, competency-based content, disas¢he ability of our customers to create anst lioeir own Web-enabled
content;

® scope and quality of professional services offeiredduding implementation, training and the expmartand technical knowledge of
the custome’ employees
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ability to access and leverage an existing custdrase to increase exposure for pharmaceutical @uical device companie
® competitive pricing, which supports a return ondstynent when compared to other alternati
® customer service and support; ¢

® effectiveness of sales and marketing efforts, amdpany reputatior

Collectively, we believe these capabilities provigdewith the ability to improve the quality of héredare by improving the quality and
accessibility of healthcare training.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION OF THE INTERNET AND THE HEALT HCARE INDUSTRY
The Internet

The laws and regulations that govern our busineaage rapidly. The United States government angaernments of some states and
foreign countries have attempted to regulate di@&/pn the Internet. The following are some ofekielving areas of law that are relevant to
our business:

®  Privacy Law.Current and proposed federal, state and foreigrapyiregulations and other laws restricting théeotion, use,
confidentiality and disclosure of personal inforimaatcould limit our ability to collect informatioar use the information in our
databases or derived from other sources, to generaénues. It may be costly to implement secorityther measures designed to
comply with any new legislatiol

®  Encryption LawsMany copyright owner associations have lobbiedfdderal government for laws requiring copyrighteatenials
transmitted over the Internet to be digitally emtegd in order to track rights and prevent unautteatiuse of copyrighted materials.
If these laws are adopted, we may incur substaruists to comply with these requirements or chahgavay we do busines

® Content RegulatiorBoth foreign and domestic governments have adauedproposed laws governing the content of material
transmitted over the Internet. These include laating to obscenity, indecency, libel and defaoratiWe could be liable if content
delivered by us violates these regulatic

® Information Security Accountability RegulaticA couple of bills are pending in Congress that doelquire public companies to
obtain certification by an independent third partyhe company’s computer information securitythif legislation is enacted, we
may incur costs to comply with these security regaents. The preliminary nature of such legislatiod the lack of related
guidance makes estimation of related costs diffitcnladdition, at least one state has enactegl&@in that requires companies to
notify customers of any security breaches. If tienPany is required to make a public announcemeyatrding a breach of security,
it could have a negative impact on our busin

® Sales and Use TaXhrough December 31, 2004, we collected salespusther taxes on taxable transactions in all stiatevhich
we have employees. While HealthStream expectshigapproach is appropriate, other states ordargirisdictions may seek to
impose tax collection obligations on companies likehat engage in online commerce. If they dasehabligations could limit the
growth of electronic commerce in general and liouit ability to profit from the sale of our servioeger the Interne!

Laws and regulations directly applicable to e-comma@nd Internet communications are becoming mareatent. Recent sessions of
Congress enacted Internet laws regarding onlingragit infringement. Congress continues considelavgs regarding Internet taxation. The
dynamic nature of this regulatory environment iases the uncertainty regarding the marketplacedtrgiesuch regulation. The enactmen
any additional laws or regulations may increaseomst of conducting business or otherwise harmbosimess, financial condition and
operating results.

Regulation of Education and Training for Healthcare Professionals

Allied Disciplines.Various allied health professionals are requiredittain continuing education to maintain their ises. For example,
emergency medical services personnel may be rebtaracquire up to 20 continuing education hoursypar. These requirements vary by
state and depend on the classification of the eyeglo
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Occupational Safety and Health Administration (O$H2SHA regulations require employers to provide fragrto employees to minimize
the risk of injury from various potential workplahazards. Employers in the healthcare industryexqeired to provide training with respect
to various topics, including blood borne pathogexgosure control, laboratory safety and tubercslipgection control. OSHA regulations
require employers to keep records of their emplsyeempletion of training with respect to these lwglace hazards.

Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare &rgations (JCAHOJCAHO mandates that employers in the healthcangsing provide
certain workplace safety and patient interactiamtng to employees. JCAHO required training magude programs on infection control,
patient bill of rights, radiation safety and inadleeporting. Healthcare organizations are requiogorovide and document training on these
topics to receive JCAHO accreditation. In additid@AHO imposes continuing education requirementphysicians that relate to each
physician’s specific staff appointments.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability AetIPAA).HIPAA regulations require organizations that maimtar transmit health
information electronically in connection with carntdransactions to provide reasonable and apprps@feguards to protect the integrity and
confidentiality of individually identifiable healtare information. These healthcare organizatioasequired to establish, maintain and
provide training with regard to their policies gomcedures for protecting the integrity and coniitiity of individually identifiable
healthcare information. Healthcare organizatiomsraquired to document training on these topicsufgport their compliance.

Continuing Education (CEState nurse practice laws are usually the soure@tbbrity for establishing the state board of mgswhich then
establishes the state’s CE requirements for priofiegsnurses. Continuing education programs areigeal through accredited providers
approved by the American Nurses Credentialing Gebdenmission on Accreditation and/or the state d@dmursing. CE requirements vary
widely from state to state. Twenty-nine states iegsome form of CE in order to renew a nurse’srige. In some states, the CE requirement
only applies to re-licensure of advance practioses; or additional CEs may be required of thisgaty of nurses. On average, 12 to 15 CEs
are required annually, with reporting generallyaoni-annual basis. Certifications may also reqo@etinuing education credits (e.g., CNOR
— certification of perioperative nursing).

Continuing Medical Education (CMES$tate licensing boards, professional organizatémmtsemployers require physicians to certify thayth
have accumulated a minimum number of continuingica@ducation hours to maintain their licensesésally, each state’s medical
practice laws authorize the state’s board of maditd establish and track CME requirements. THoty-state medical licensing boards
currently have CME requirements. The number of GMErs required by each state ranges up to 50 looumere per year. Other sources of
CME requirements are state medical societies aactipe specialty boards. The failure to obtainrdwisite amount and type of CME could
result in non-renewal of the physician’s licens@iactice medicine and/or membership in a medicaractice specialty society. The
American Medical Association’s, or AMA's, Physici&ecognition Award, or PRA, is the most widely rgeized certificate for
acknowledging physician completion of a CME couildee AMA classifies continuing education activites either category 1, which
includes formal CME activities, or category 2, whiacludes most informal activities. Sponsors wardesignate CME activities for AMA
PRA category 1 because this has become the benklionayuality in formally organized educational iaittes. Most agencies nationwide tt
require CME participation specify AMA PRA categdryredit. Only institutions and organizations adaes to provide CME can designate
an activity for AMA PRA category 1. The Accreditati Council for Continuing Medical Education, or ARIE, is responsible for the
accreditation of medical schools, state medicaleties and other institutions and organizations pinavide CME activities for a national or
regional audience of physicians. Only institutiamsl organizations are accredited. The ACCME artd st@dical societies do not accredit or
approve individual activities. State medical sdegtoperating under the aegis of the ACCME, adthestitutions and organizations that
provide CME activities primarily for physicians it the state or bordering states. We are an ai¢edeprovider of CME by the ACCME.

Office of the Inspector General (OIG) of the Depantnent of Health and Human Services (HHS)

The OIG issued Compliance Program Guidelines farihceutical Manufacturers (Guidelines) in ApriD30This document includes
guidelines related to continuing educational atiigisupported by pharmaceutical and medical degagpanies. The Guidelines could affect
the type and extent of future support for our amuntig education activities. The trade associatfonshe pharmaceutical and medical device
industries (PhRMA and AdvaMed, respectively) halge @aromulgated their own codes of ethics. The Camydollows the rules and
guidelines provided by ACCME, ANCC, and other conihg education accrediting bodies to ensure thatantinuing education
programming is free from commercial bias and cdesiswith the OIG Guidelines.

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration and the Fedeal Trade Commission

Current FDA and FTC rules and enforcement actiomsragulatory policies or those that the FDA or i€ may develop in the future could
have a material adverse effect on our ability vjate existing or future applications or service®tr end users or obtain the necessary
corporate sponsorship to do so. The FDA and the f€gGlate the form, content and dissemination loéliag, advertising and promotional
materials, including direct-to-consumer prescriptitsug and medical device advertising, prepareaby,
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for, pharmaceutical, biotechnology or medical dexdompanies. The FTC regulates over-the-countey aduertising and, in some cases,
medical device advertising. Generally, regulateshganies must limit their advertising and promotianaterials to discussions of the FDA-
approved claims and, in limited circumstances, limaed number of claims not approved by the FOAerefore, any information that
promotes the use of pharmaceutical or medical égwioducts that is presented with our serviceahgst to the full array of the FDA and
FTC requirements and enforcement actions. We betigat banner advertisements, sponsorship linkaapeducational programs that lack
independent editorial control that we may presétti aur services could be subject to FDA or FTCutagon. While the FDA and the FTC
place the principal burden of compliance with atigerg and promotional regulations on the advertisehe FDA or FTC finds that any
regulated information presented with our servidetates FDA or FTC regulations, they may take ratary action against us or the advert
or sponsor of that information. In 1996, the FDAannced it would develop a guidance document egprgs broad set of policies dealing
with the promotion of pharmaceutical, biotechnolegyl medical device products on the Internet. ThA Ras yet to issue that guidance
document, and it is not clear when such documentlmeaeleased. The FDA guidance document may teflae regulatory policies that m¢
tightly regulate the format and content of promogibinformation on the Internet.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND OTHER PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

To protect our proprietary rights, we rely genaralh copyright, trademark and trade secret lawsfidentiality agreements and procedures
with employees, consultants and other third parliesnse agreements with consultants, vendorsastbmers, and by controlling access to
our software, documentation and other proprietafgrimation. We own federal trademark and servicekmegistrations for the marks
“HEALTHSTREAM”, “HOSPITALDIRECT” and “OR PROTOCOL.”

We obtain the content that we license to our custsrthrough a combination of license agreements puiblishers or authors, assignments
and work-for-hire arrangements with third partisgd development by employees. We require publishethors and other third parties to
represent and warrant that their content doesnfidbge on any third-party intellectual propertghts and that they have the right to provide
their content and have obtained all third-partyssoms necessary to do so. Our publishers, authdrsther third parties also agree to
indemnify us against liability we might sustain doghe content they provide.

If a third party asserts a claim that we have ingfeid their intellectual property, we may be reqlib@redesign our products or enter into
royalty or licensing agreements. In addition, veetise technologies from third parties for incorpiorainto our services. Royalty and
licensing agreements with these third parties nwye available on terms acceptable to us, iflafdditionally, the steps we have taken to
protect our intellectual property rights may notaskequate. Third parties may infringe or misappeterour proprietary rights. Competitors
may also independently develop technologies tteasabstantially equivalent or superior to the tedbmgies we employ in our services. If we
fail to protect our proprietary rights adequateyr competitors could offer similar services, paitgty significantly harming our competitive
position and decreasing our revenues.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Company files reports with the Securities ardhange Commission (SEC), including annual repamt§&orm 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q and other reports from time to time. Phblic may read and copy any materials we file it SEC at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, WashingiiD,20549. The public may obtain information on tipeeration of the Public Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The Gowps an electronic filer and the SEC maintainsrégrnet site at http://www.sec.gov
that contains the reports, proxy and informati@ieshents, and other information filed electronicalur website address is
www.healthstream.com. Please note that our wehdileess is provided as an inactive textual referemty. We make available free of
charge through our website, the annual report amHA®-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curremtorts on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to those reports as soon as reasomabticable after such material is electronicallgdiwith or furnished to the SEC. The
information provided on our website is not partto$ report, and is therefore not incorporateddfgnence unless such information is
otherwise specifically referenced elsewhere in thjsort.

OUR EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2004, we employed 146 personss@ccess will depend in large part upon our @ghiidi attract and retain qualified
employees. We face competition in this regard faither companies, but we believe that we maintaodgelations with our employees. We
are not subject to any collective bargaining agere

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a brief summary of the businespeazience of each of the executive officers of tleen@any. Officers of the Company are
elected by the Board of Directors and serve aptbasure of the Board of Directors. The followiale sets forth certain information
regarding the executive officers of the Company:

Name Age Position
Robert A. Frist, Jr 38 Chief Executive Officer, President and ChairmathefBoard of Director
Arthur E. Newmar 56  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offic@ompliance Office

Fred Perne 51 Senior Vice Presidel



Susan A. Brownit 40 Senior Vice President, Corporate Secre

Robert A. Frist, Jr., one of our co-founders, haxsved as our chief executive officer and chairmiathe board of directors since 1990 and
president since 2001. Mr. Frist serves on the bofdirectors of HearingPlanet, Inc., an onlinerir@paid distribution company. He
graduated with a Bachelor of Science in busine#is egncentrations in finance, economics and margdtom Trinity University.
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Arthur E. Newman has served as our chief finarafader and senior vice president since Januan02®8r. Newman assumed compliance
officer responsibilities in October 2004. From A@990 to August 1999, Mr. Newman served as exeeuwtice president overseeing finance,
human resources, information systems and custoaneice and fulfillment for Lippincott, Williams andilkins, formerly Waverly, Inc., a
publicly traded medical sciences publisher. In M898, Waverly was acquired by Wolters Kluwer andgad with Wolters Kluwer’s

existing U.S. based medical publisher, LippincadtvBn Publishers. From August 1999 to January 2800Newman served as the chief
technology officer for Wolters Kluwer’s scientifitechnical and medical companies consisting of $iparate units. Mr. Newman holds a
Bachelor of Science in chemistry from the Universit Miami and a Masters of Business Administratimm Rutgers University.

Fred Perner has served as senior vice presider@ Biavember 2000 and senior director from July 2@08ovember 2000. During 2004,

Mr. Perner assumed responsibility for sales andketizng in addition to other areas. From January91®@&il June 2000, Mr. Perner served as
president of Education Design, Inc., a company iedby HealthStream in July 2000. Mr. Perner séra corporate director of marketing
for the Association of periOperative Registeredsgésrfrom 1996 to 1999. From 1976 to 1988, Mr. Resap/ed various positions, including
vice president of marketing and business developifieethe medical device group of Bristol Myers 8tu Mr. Perner holds a Bachelor of
Science in general management and a Masters im@&ssiAdministration from Indiana University. Mr.rRer also holds a J.D. from the
University of Denver College of Law.

Susan A. Brownie was promoted to Senior Vice Petith early 2005. Before her promotion, Ms. Brosveérved as our vice president of
finance and corporate controller since joiningruslovember 1999. Ms. Brownie assumed corporatetagrresponsibilities in

October 2004. From August 1986 until 1999, Ms. Bi@wvorked for KPMG LLP, a public accounting andhsolting firm, most recently as
senior manager. Ms. Brownie serves on the boadireftors of Levy’s Inc., a clothing retailer. Sh@lds a Bachelor of Business
Administration from the College of William and Maayd is a certified public accountant.

RISK FACTORS

We believe that the risks and uncertainties desdrlizlow and elsewhere in this document are timeipal material risks facing the Company
as of the date of this report. In the future, weylbacome subject to additional risks that are notently known to us. Our business, financial
condition or results of operations could be maligreedversely affected by any of the following risénd by any unknown risks. The trading
price of our common stock could decline due to ainthe following risks or any unknown risks.

Risks related to our business model.

We may be unable to effectively implement our grbwstrategy which could have an adverse effect om business and competitive positi
in the industry.

Our business strategy includes increasing our matiae and presence through sales to new custoimarsitioning existing customers,
further penetration and additional sales to exjstinstomers and introductions of new products andices. Some of the risks that we may
encounter in implementing our growth strategy idetu

® expenses, delays and difficulties of identifyingl émtegrating new products or services into oustxg organization
® inability to leverage our operational and finanagétems sufficient to support our grow

® diversion of manageme’s attention from daily operation

® inability to generate sufficient revenue from nesagucts to offset investment costs; ¢

® inability to effectively identify, manage and exjplexisting and emerging market opportuniti
If any of these risks are realized, our businessdcsuffer.
We may be unable to effectively identify, completéntegrate the operations of future acquisitions.

As part of our growth strategy, we are activelyieeing possible strategic acquisitions that comm@etor enhance our business. We may not
be able to identify, complete or integrate the apjens of future acquisitions. In addition, if wednce acquisitions by issuing equity
securities, our existing shareholders may be dilutkich could affect the market price of our stogk.a result, if we fail to properly evaluate
and execute acquisitions and investments, our bssiprospects may be seriously harmed. Some abkssthat we may encounter in
implementing our acquisition strategy include:

® expenses, delays or difficulties of identifying antégrating acquired companies into our organizg

® diversion of manageme's attention from daily operations; a



® inability to generate sufficient revenues from fietacquisitions to offset acquisition cos
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Certain revenue components are subject to significfluctuations.

As revenues from our subscription business contiotlcrease, a larger portion of our revenues lvalmore easily forecasted; however,
quarterly performance may be more subject to flatiduns associated with our project based busingsish generally relates to our
pharmaceutical and medical device business. Thimbsis is generally associated with recurring ecastaelationships, however services are
generally specific and relate to product launchesaining events that may vary from year to y8dre magnitude of such contracts may vary
widely.

Our sales cycle is lengthy and can vary widely.

The period from our initial contact with a potehastomer and the first purchase of our solutipiie customer typically ranges from three
to nine months, and in some cases has extended fomticer. The range in the sales cycle can be ingplday factors including an increasing
trend towards more formal requests for proposald(B) process, more competition within our spaseyell as formal budget timelines
which impact timing of purchases by target cust@mAs a result of these factors, we have only &ohdbility to forecast the timing and type
of sales. This, in turn, makes it more difficultgedict quarterly financial performance.

We may not be able to maintain our competitive piosi against current and potential competitors, esjally those with significantly
greater financial, marketing, technical and otheesources

Several of our competitors have longer operatistphies and significantly greater financial, teciahi marketing and other resources than us,
and several of the larger e-learning companies frane time-to-time announced their intentions téeenhe healthcare learning market. Sti
others offer a lower cost service alternative thay capture a portion of our potential customeebblsaddition, if such competitors were to
offer a complete e-learning solution to the heathdndustry, our competitive position could be erdely affected. These companies may be
able to respond more quickly than us to new or ghegnopportunities, technologies, standards oratust requirements. Most of our
customer subscription agreements are for shortstevithh no obligation to renew. The short termshafse agreements allow customers to
more easily shift to one of our competitors.

We have begun to encounter more competition from ec@mpanies focused on training and continuing atioe in the healthcare industry.
While we have not experienced direct competitiomse all of our products and services with a sipgtevider, as the market for online
training and continuing education becomes satunatttdcompetitors, our business may suffer.

Growth in courseware subscription revenues depeindpart, on our obtaining proper distribution right from our content partners.

Most of our agreements with content providers ararfitial terms of one to three years. The confartners may choose not to renew their
agreements with us or may terminate the agreeneantgif we do not fulfill our contractual obligatis. If a significant number of our contt
providers terminate or fail to renew their agreetaavith us on acceptable terms, it could resu#t reduction in the number of courses we are
able to distribute and decreased revenues. Masirofigreements with our content partners are aseemclusive, and our competitors offer,
or could offer, training and continuing educati@mtent that is similar to or the same as oursulflighers and authors, including our current
content partners, offer information to users or@ampetitors on more favorable terms than thoseredf to us or increase our license fees
competitive position and our profit margins andgpects could be harmed. In addition, the failur@tiycontent partners to deliver high-
quality content and to continuously upgrade theirtent in response to user demand and evolvinghoeae advances and trends could result
in user dissatisfaction and inhibit our abilityatiract users.

We may not be able to develop enhancements to gigtiag products and services or achieve widespraadeptance of new features or
keep pace with technological developments.

We plan to increase our revenues through saleswocustomers as well as increasing our sales dfiagal courseware subscriptions and
other products and services to existing custont@us.identification of additional features, contgmpducts and services may not
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result in timely development of complementary prtduln addition, the success of certain new prtsdand services may be dependent on
continued growth in our base of Internet-basedarusts or adoption of new methodology by new custenigecause healthcare training
continues to change and evolve, we may be unalgedorately predict and develop features, conteditodher products to address the needs
of the healthcare industry. During the past tworgeae have invested in new products including hteHpirectR, HealthStrean® Express,

and Competency CompaSs If these products are not accepted by new otiegisustomers, we may not be able to recover tisé af this
development and our business will be harmed. Coetirgrowth of our Internet-based customer popuidSalependent on our ability to
continue to provide relevant products and senvicestimely manner. The success of our businedsiefdend on our ability to continue
providing our products and services as well asinoatl content, product and service enhancememigddiess the needs of the healthcare
industry.

Within the healthcare industry, our customer chaniseare focused on two segments: healthcare orgatiames and pharmaceutical/
medical device companies. We rely on spending withiese two segments and our business may suffénéncial pressures cause our
potential or existing customers to cut back on aervices

There are several economic factors that have ham@act on the nation’s approximately 5,000 acate tospitals. Some of these factors
include labor costs, which as recently as 2002 tttorsd 40 percent of hospital revenues, accortbritpe Centers for Medicare and Medicaid
(CMS), with half of that allocated for staffing m@s. Also, the reduced Medicare payment increas¢sesulted from the Balanced Budget
Act of 1997 and the lower payments that most hatgpéccepted from managed care companies in thedasral years have both had an
adverse financial effect on the hospital segmenese financial pressures, along with several ntajspital defaults and bankruptcies, have
resulted in limited access to capital for hospitals HealthStream’s target market within the hezlte industry, hospitals’ financial pressures
are salient in achieving our business objectives.

Financial analysts generally believe that medieafice companies enjoy higher revenues and eargiroygh, relative to their medical supply
company counterparts, although they're considerecenolatile. The medical device industry is highbncentrated; the largest two percent
of the 6,000 U.S. medical device firms accountrfearly half of the industry’s sales, accordinghte €MS. In addition, relatively short
product life cycles for medical devices make thenaggement and marketing strategies particularlyiatire this segment. These economic
factors contribute to the volatility of this custenchannel for HealthStream.

The top ten pharmaceutical companies account faes@ent of U.S. drug sales, with the top compamging a ten percent market share of
the U.S. pharmaceutical market in 2001, accordingMS. Successful research and development isepeltver for long-term growth, yet
this may be held constant or reduced during pootihnches—Ilike that experienced by some companidsegsatent expires on their
blockbuster drugs. Both branded and generic pharutmal companies fiercely litigate intellectugtisoperty and, as a result, may experience
adverse financial consequences. Over the pastéansypharmaceutical companies experienced ais@mifincrease in public scrutiny with
respect to product development, testing and inttdns in certain specific treatment areas. Comtihrestrictions or further extending the
testing and product launch cycle could have a megahpact on our sales to and revenues from phegotacal companies. As one of our two
customer channels, these characteristics of themateutical and medical device segment could havepact on HealthStream.

Financial Risks
A significant portion of our revenue is generatetbin a relatively small number of customel

We provide our Internet-based training and edunat&rvices to HCA Information Technology & Serviceg. (HCA) pursuant to an
agreement that expires in October 2005. During 2@@4derived approximately 15%, or $2.9 million,cafr net revenues from HCA. HCA
has the right to terminate this agreement if wetéadeliver the required services under this agrea on a timely basis. We also derive a
significant portion of our revenues from a relayvemall number of customers. A termination of agreement with HCA or several of our
other significant customers or a failure by HCAotiner significant customers to renew their consaabuld have a material adverse effect on
our business.

The percentage of our business that is subjectéaoewal continues to increase, which makes it diffiicto predict the rate of customer
subscription renewals and the impact those renewailt have on our revenue and operating resul

Our Internet-based HLC customers have no obligatarenew their subscriptions for our productsewies after the expiration of the initial
subscription period and in fact, some customere edected not to renew their subscription. In addjtour customers may renew at a lower
pricing or activity level. Our historical data withspect to rates of customer subscription reneiwddased on lower levels of contract renewal
activity. During the year ended December 31, 20@2renewed 85% of the annual contract value upeioewal and over 80% of the contr:
which were up for renewal. We expect that the nunelb@ccounts up for renewal will increase durimgl after 2005, so we cannot accurately
predict customer renewal rates. Our customers'wahetes may decline or fluctuate as a resultmfimber of factors, including their
dissatisfaction with our service. If we are unableenew a substantial portion of the contracts @ina up for renewal or maintain our pricing,
our revenues could be adversely affected, whichldvbave a material adverse affect on our resultspefations and financial position. In
addition, much of our live event activity is ofecurring and predictable nature, however,
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we do not have any long term contracts that oldigla¢se customers beyond the current contract téfimsr customers do not renew their
arrangements for our service, or if their activéyels decline, our revenue may decline and ouinless will suffer.

Our future success also depends in part on outyatailsell additional features or enhanced edgiohour service to our current customers.
This may require increasingly sophisticated andlgasles efforts that require targeting, contaithyor approval by our customer’s senior
management. If these efforts are not successfubusiness may suffer.

The timing of our revenue recognition from salestagty is dependent upon achievement of certain g and our inability to accurately
predict them will harm our operating result:

Our ability to record revenues is dependent upeersd factors including the transfer of customegesfic information such as unique
subscriber IDs, which are required for us to impaircustomers on our Internet-based learning ptatféccordingly, if customers do not
provide us with the specified information in a tignenanner, our ability to recognize revenues wdldelayed, which could adversely impact
our operating results. In addition, completion asdeptance by our customers of developed content@mrseware must be achieved, and
utilization of courseware is required in connectigith subscription Interndbased learning products and commercial suppom@eraents fo
us to recognize revenues. As we noted above, wialaave been successful in achieving growth irpreentage of subscription based
revenues, our project based revenues are subjsigirificant fluctuations.

Because we recognize revenue from subscriptionsdior products and services over the term of the suiiption period, downturns o
upturns in sales may not be immediately reflectacbur operating results.

We recognize a large portion of our revenue frostammers monthly over the terms of their subscriptigreements, which are typically one
to three years, although terms can range fromthessone to up to five years. As a result, muctihefrevenue we report in each quarter is
related to subscription agreements entered intmglyorevious quarters. Consequently, a declinesim ar renewed subscriptions in any one
quarter will not necessarily be fully reflectedtlire revenue in that quarter and will negativelyeffour revenue in future quarters. In addit
we may be unable to adjust our cost structurefteatethese reduced revenues. Accordingly, thecefiésignificant downturns in sales and
market acceptance of our products and servicesnmoilye fully reflected in our results of operatiamgil future periods. Additionally, our
subscription model also makes it difficult for wsrapidly increase our revenue through additioatdssin any period, as revenue from new
customers must be recognized over the applicatblscsiption term.

We may not be able to meet our strategic busindgeciives unless we obtain additional financing, ish may not be available to us on
favorable terms or at all

The net proceeds of our initial public offering,|BO, and the preceding private offerings of ounomn and preferred stock, together with
our current cash reserves and results of operatgwasexpected to be sufficient to meet our caghirements through at least 2005. However,
we may need to raise additional funds in order to:

® develop new, or enhance existing, services or ptsg
® respond to competitive pressur

® finance working capital requiremen

® sustain content and development relationship

® acquire complementary businesses, technology, sbatgroducts

At December 31, 2004, we had approximately $16lBamiin cash, cash equivalents, restricted casigstments in marketable securities and
related interest receivable. We have commitmenpayoapproximately $300,000 in 2005 related toateragreements with various content
partners and other strategic agreements. We etgéaatur approximately $3.0 million of capital exytures and content purchases during
2005 to support our business. We expect net opgriisses to continue for at least one quarte0662We cannot assure you that additional
financing will be available on terms favorable & ar at all. If adequate funds are not availablare not available on acceptable terms, our
ability to fund expansion, take advantage of atdéapportunities, develop or enhance services
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or products or otherwise respond to competitivesguiees would be significantly limited. If we raesgditional funds by issuing equity or
convertible debt securities, the percentage owiefrour shareholders will be reduced.

Our relatively short operating history may prevem$ from forecasting our results of operations acately.

As a result of our short operating history and latkustained success in executing our growthegjyatwe do not have historical financial
data for a significant number of periods upon whilforecast quarterly revenues and results ofaijmers. We believe that period-to-period
comparisons of our operating results are not nacigéssneaningful and should not be relied uponradators of future performance. In
addition, our operating results may vary substinti@his variability results primarily from the ffierences in levels of sales activity,
introductions of new products and services, andélaed revenue recognition for our various praésiand services. In one or more future
quarters, our results of operations may fall beleeent operating trends or the expectations ofrg@suanalysts and investors, and the tra
price of our common stock may decline.

Our stock price is likely to be volatile.

The market price of our common stock is likely ®umlatile and could be subject to significant fliations in response to factors such as the
following, some of which are beyond our controlagerly variations in our operating results; opiagtesults that vary from the expectations
of securities analysts and investors; changespeasations as to our future financial performamtenges in market valuations of other or
service companies; future sales of our common s&iokk market price and volume fluctuations; gahpolitical and economic conditions,
such as a recession or war or terrorist attacksterest rate or currency rate fluctuations; arbotisk factors described in this Form 10-K.
Moreover, our stock is thinly traded, and we havelatively small public float. These factors malversely affect the market price of our
common stock. In addition, the market prices focks of many Internet related and technology congsamave historically experienced
extreme price fluctuations that appeared to beaeladionship to the operating performance of ttmsapanies.

Risks Related to Sales, Marketing and Competition
We continue to refine our pricing and our productsd services and cannot predict whether the ongoaignges will be accepted.

Over the past few years we have implemented sevbasiges and continue to make such changes irricingpand our product and service
offerings to increase revenue and to meet the nefealsr customers. We cannot predict whether oureat pricing and products and services,
or any ongoing refinements we make will be acceptedur existing customer base or by prospectistaruers. If our customers and
potential customers decide not to accept our ctmefuture pricing or product and service offesng could have a material adverse effec
our business.

Risks Related to Operations

We may be unable to adequately develop our systpnogesses and support in a manner that will enabteto meet the demand for our
services

We have provided our online products and servioegproximately five years and continue to developability to provide our courses and
education management systems on both a subscragotiransactional basis over the Internet. Owréusuccess will depend on our ability
effectively develop the infrastructure, includindd#tional hardware and software, and implemenstices, including customer support,
necessary to meet the demand for our servicesin@bility from time to time to successfully develtye necessary systems and implement
the necessary services on a timely basis has edsulbur customers experiencing some delays errintions in their service. Such delays or
interruptions may cause customers to become difisattiwith our service and move to competing prewsdof traditional and online training
and education services. If this happens, our reeecould be adversely affected, which would hareaterial adverse effect on our financial
condition.

Our business operations could be significantly dipted if we lose members of, or fail to integrateyr management team.

Our future performance will be substantially depamtcon the continued services of our management sgal our ability to retain and
motivate them. The loss of the services of anyuwfaificers or senior managers could harm our lessnas we may not be able to find
suitable replacements. We do not have employmeaeeagents with any of our key personnel, other tharchief executive officer, and we
do not maintain any “key person” life insuranceigieb.

We may not be able to hire and retain a sufficiemimber of qualified employees and, as a result,way not be able to grow as we expect
or maintain the quality of our services.

Our future success will depend on our ability toaat, train, retain and motivate other highly &dltechnical, managerial, marketing and
customer support personnel. Competition for thessgmnel is intense, especially for developers, dédigners and sales personnel, and we
may be unable to successfully attract sufficiegthalified personnel. We have experienced difficityhe past hiring qualified personnel ii



timely manner for these positions. The pool of fieal technical personnel, in particular, is lindten Nashville, Tennessee, which is where
our headquarters are located. We will need to ragirihe size of our staff to support our anticiplageowth, without compromising the qua

of our offerings or customer service. Our inabitilylocate, hire, integrate and retain qualifiedspanel in sufficient numbers may reduce the
quality of our services.
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We must continue to upgrade our technology infrastture, both hardware and software, to effectiveheet demand for our services.

We must continue to add hardware and enhance seftwaccommodate the increased content in owrlitand increased use of our Web
site. In order to make timely decisions about hamgwand software enhancements, we must be abietoadely forecast the growth in
demand for our services. This growth in demandftorservices is difficult to forecast and the paidraudience for our services is large. If
we are unable to increase the data storage andgsing capacity of our systems at least as fabieagrowth in demand, our systems may
become unstable and our customers may encounsgrsdet disruptions in their service. Unscheduledmone could harm our business and
also could discourage current and potential custsraed reduce future revenues.

Our network infrastructure and computer systems asodftware may fail.

An unexpected event like a telecommunications ffajliire, flood, earthquake, or other catastropbss at our Internet service providers’
facilities or at our on-site data facility couldusz the loss of critical data and prevent us fréferiog our products and services. Our business
interruption insurance may not adequately compenssifor losses that may occur. In addition, we oel third parties to securely store our
archived data, house our Web server and netwotkrsgsand connect us to the Internet. While ouriseproviders have planned for certain
contingencies, the failure by any of these thirdipa to provide these services satisfactorily andinability to find suitable replacements
would impair our ability to access archives andrafgeeour systems and software.

We may lose users and lose revenues if our secumigasures fail.

If the security measures that we use to protectquenl information are ineffective, we may lose asdrour services, which could reduce our
revenues. We rely on security and authenticationrtelogy licensed from third parties. With thishaology, we perform redlme credit carc
authorization and verification. We cannot preditiether these security measures could be circumddayt@ew technological developments.
In addition, our software, databases and serveysh@aulnerable to computer viruses, physical ectebnic breakns and similar disruption
We may need to spend significant resources to gragainst security breaches or to alleviate probleaused by any breaches. We cannot
assure that we can prevent all security breaches.

Risks Related to Government Regulation, Content anthtellectual Property
Government regulation may require us to change tay we do business.

The laws and regulations that govern our busineaage rapidly. The United States government angalernments of states and foreign
countries have attempted to regulate activitietherinternet. Evolving areas of law that are reh¢ta our business include privacy law,
proposed encryption laws, content regulation atessand use tax laws and regulations. Becausésofapidly evolving and uncertain
regulatory environment, we cannot predict how tHase and regulations might affect our businessaddition, these uncertainties make it
difficult to ensure compliance with the laws andutkations governing the Internet. These laws agdlegions could harm us by subjecting us
to liability or forcing us to change how we do mess. See “Business - Government Regulation dhtieenet and the Healthcare Industry”
for a more complete discussion of these laws agdlagons.

Any reduction or change in the regulation of contiling education and training in the healthcare indtry may adversely affect ot
business.

Our business model is dependent in part on reqtriaéting and continuing education for healthcaiagssionals and other healthcare
workers resulting from regulations of state anddfablagencies, state licensing boards and professioganizations. Any change in these
regulations that reduce the requirements for caiitneducation and training for the healthcare gtigucould harm our business.

In addition, our business with pharmaceutical amdlicel device manufacturers is predicated on ollityatb maintain accreditation status
with organizations such as the Accreditation ColuiociContinuing Medical Education (ACCME), Ameritdurses Credentialing Center
(ANCC), American Council for Pharmaceutical Educat{ACPE) and others. The failure to maintain stats an accredited provider could
result in a detrimental effect on our business.

New regulations may reduce our business activityhapharmaceutical and medical device custome

In April 2003, the Office of Inspector General (QI&f the Department of Health and Human Servicegdd “OIG Compliance Program
Guidance for Pharmaceutical Manufacturers.” Thislgiice identifies three areas of risks for pharmtical and medical device companies
and recommends certain best practices to be indludda compliance plan designed to avoid the ridlederal healthcare program abuse. The
guidance highlighted a number of arrangementshtha¢ the potential to trigger fraud and abuse timis, including educational grants. The
Company follows the rules and guidelines providedie ACCME, ANCC and other continuing educationraditing bodies to ensure that
continuing education programming is free from corruiz bias and consistent with the OIG guidancee Witajority of the Company’s
accredited continuing education programming is &by
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educational grants from our pharmaceutical and cagdievice customers. There is no assurance thaghawmaceutical and medical device
customers will continue to provide educational ¢ggaronsistent with past practices. To the extemtdlir customers curtail or restructure their
business practices, it could have a material advierpact on the Company’s revenues, results ofatiogis, and financial position.

We may be liable to third parties for content thiatavailable from our online library.

We may be liable to third parties for the contendur online library if the text, graphics, softwaor other content in our library violates
copyright, trademark, or other intellectual propeights, our content partners violate their coctimal obligations to others by providing
content to our library or the content does not oomfto accepted standards of care in the healtlprafession. We attempt to minimize these
types of liabilities by requiring representatiomslavarranties relating to our content partners’ emship of the rights to distribute as well as
the accuracy of their content. We also take necgssaasures to review this content ourselves. Alghoour agreements with our content
partners contain provisions providing for indemeafion by the content providers in the event ofmaate content, we cannot assure you that
our content partners will have the financial resesrto meet this obligation. Alleged liability cdidarm our business by damaging our
reputation, requiring us to incur legal costs ifedse, exposing us to awards of damages and cudidiverting management’s attention away
from our business. See “Business — IntellectuapBrty and Other Proprietary Rights” for a more ctetepdiscussion of the potential effects
of this liability on our business.

Protection of certain proprietary trademarks and hain names may be difficult and costl

Despite protection of certain proprietary tradersaakd domain names, a third-party could, withotit@uzation, copy or otherwise
appropriate our content or other information froun database. Our agreements with employees, canssiind others who participate in
development activities could be breached. We mayhaee adequate remedies for any breach, andas secrets may otherwise become
known or independently developed by competitoraddition, the laws of some foreign countries dobprotect our proprietary rights to the
same extent as the laws of the United States, fiactige copyright, trademark and trade secretguiddn may not be available in those
jurisdictions. We currently hold several domain eanilhe legal status of intellectual property anltiternet is currently subject to varic
uncertainties. The current system for registeradigcating and managing domain names has beemutjecs of litigation and proposed
regulatory reform. Additionally, legislative prods have been made by the federal government thaidvafford broad protection to owners
of databases of information, such as stock qudtas.protection of databases already exists irEtlm@pean Union. There have been
substantial amounts of litigation in the computed anline industries regarding intellectual propertsets. Third-parties may claim
infringement by us with respect to current and feifproducts, trademarks or other proprietary rigitsl we may counterclaim against such
parties in such actions. Any such claims or cowtaéns could be time-consuming, result in costigéition, divert management’s attention,
cause product release delays, require us to redesigproducts or require us to enter into royaltyicensing agreements, any of which could
have a material adverse effect upon our busingssdial condition and operating results. Such itgyend licensing agreements may not be
available on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

We may be unable to protect our intellectual properand we may be liable for infringing the inteliéual property rights of others.

Our business could be harmed if unauthorized gainiieinge upon or misappropriate our proprietargtems, content, services or other
information. Our efforts to protect our intelleckpaoperty through copyright, trademarks and ottartrols may not be adequate. In the
future, litigation may be necessary to enforceintellectual property rights or to determine thdidity and scope of the proprietary rights of
others, which could be time consuming and costiiellectual property infringement claims could bada against us as the number of our
competitors grows. These claims, even if not madte, could be expensive and divert our attenfiiom operating our company. In additic

if we become liable to third parties for infringittgeir intellectual property rights, we could bguied to pay a substantial damage award and
develop comparable non-infringing intellectual pedy, to obtain a license or to cease providingcthrtent or services that contain the
infringing intellectual property. We may be unatdedevelop non-infringing intellectual propertyaistain a license on commercially
reasonable terms, if at all.
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Item 2. Properties

Our principal office is located in Nashville, Terssee. Our lease for approximately 31,000 squateafahis location expires in April 2005.
The lease provides for a five-year renewal optidth went at rates which are substantially simitactirrent rates. We anticipate renewing or
renegotiating our Nashville office lease at ratgssgantially similar to our current lease. Rerthi location is approximately $22,000 per
month through April 2005.

We are leasing approximately 8,000 square feeffimeospace in Denver, Colorado for our satellitiice. The lease expires in March 2010
and has monthly rent of approximately $9,000.

We are leasing approximately 6,000 square feeffmieospace in Dallas, Texas. The lease expirdaiuary 2007 and has monthly rent of
approximately $8,000. We are currently subleadig affice space at the rate of approximately $8,06r month to a third party for the
remaining term of the lease.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Sktmlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities.

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the high and low sales prices per shaoeio€ommon stock as reported on the
NASDAQ National Market under the ticker symbol HST

High Low

2004

First Quarte! $ 3.04 $ 1.7t
Second Quarte 2.5¢ 1.8¢
Third Quartel 2.1C 1.61
Fourth Quarte 3.1C 1.87
2003

First Quarte! $ 1.8¢ $ 1.0C
Second Quarte 2.6¢ 1.0C
Third Quartel 3.8 2.1¢
Fourth Quarte 3.1C 2.5C

On March 8, 2005, there were 223 registered holdedsapproximately 2,100 beneficial holders of cmammon stock. Because many of such
shares are held by brokers and other institutionisetalf of shareholders, we are unable to estithatéotal number of shareholders
represented by these record holders.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock, and we do not anticipate pagas dividends in the foreseeable
future. We intend to retain earnings to financeekpansion of our operations.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

There have been no sales of unregistered secusities December 31, 2003.
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

There were no stock repurchases by the Compareifourth quarter of 2004.
USE OF PROCEEDS

On April 10, 2000 our Registration Statement omir&-1 (File No. 333-88939) was declared effectiyehe Securities and Exchange
Commission. Pursuant to the Registration Statementegistered and sold 5,275,000 shares of constowhk at a price of $9.00 per share.
The managing underwriter was FleetBoston Rober&ephens, Inc. The aggregate price of the amoterteof and sold was $47,475,000. In
connection with the issuance and distribution efsbcurities registered, we paid $3,323,250 relatethderwriting discounts and
commissions and approximately $2,000,000 of otkpesses.

The net offering proceeds to the Company after denly the total expenses noted above were appraeiyn®42,200,000. From the effective
date of the Registration Statement through Dece®bgP004, we have used approximately $34,700,08%emet offering proceeds to fund
general operating expenses, acquisitions and otheking capital needs.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected statements of operations data fahtke-year period ended December 31, 2004 andahede sheet data as of December 31,
2004 and 2003 are derived from our financial stateisthat have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP jmdependent registered public
accounting firm, and are included elsewhere inithort. You should read the following selectedfiaial data in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the notésoge statements and “Management’s Discussion auadlygis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” located elsewhere in thiere

HealthStream acquired seven companies between&@DR001. As a result of these acquisitions, teialresults presented below are not
comparable. Revenues may be subject to fluctuatieriscussed further “Managemer's Discussion and Analysis
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Financial Condition and Results of Operations” tedaelsewhere in this report. During 2002, we agld[8FAS No. 142 “Goodwill and
Intangible Assets,” which eliminated the amortiaatof goodwill and indefinite lived intangible atsdn accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 142, we recorded a transitional goodwilpairment charge of $5.0 million, in our HCO busimenit, as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle as of January 12268 a result of this accounting change, the anmasalts presented below are not
comparable. See Note 5 to the Consolidated Finb8tagements for details. The operating resultsafor single year are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected in thereit

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(In thousands, except per share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenues, ne $20,057 $18,19¢ $ 15,79( $ 13,50: $ 9,652
Operating costs and expens

Cost of revenue 7,27 6,26¢ 5,97( 5,772 4,357

Product developmel 2,531 3,241 4,67¢ 5,041 5,63¢

Sales, marketing, general and administrative exgg 9,43: 9,431 12,83t 13,01¢ 15,42¢

Depreciation and amortizatic 2,107 3,04¢ 4,39¢ 9,93¢ 6,901

Office consolidation charg — — 164 401 —

Impairment of lon-lived asset: — — 10t 712 —

Total operating costs and expen 21,34¢ 21,99¢ 28,14¢ 34,88: 32,32t

Loss from operation (1,297 (3,799 (22,359 (21,379 (22,677)
Other income (expens 243 387 717 1,80 2,38¢
Net loss, before cumulative effect of a changectoanting principle (1,04¢) (3,417 (11,647 (29,57¢) (20,28
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec — — (5,000 — —
Net loss $ (1,04¢) $ (3,419 $(16,647) $(19,57¢) $(20,285)
Net loss per sha— basic and diluted, before cumulative effect of a

change in accounting princig $ (0.0%) $ (0.19) $ (0.57) $ (0.99 $ (1.29

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prite — — (0.25) — —
Net loss per sha- basic and dilute $ (005 $ (015 $ (0.8 $ (099 $ (1.29
Weighted average shares of common stock outstardiasgic and

diluted 20,58¢ 20,38 20,26 19,92: 15,78¢

At December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(In thousands)

BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 2,257 $ 3,22 $ 4,07C $ 4,747 $19,83:
Investments in marketable securit-short and long terr 14,02¢ 13,95¢ 15,15t 21,41( 20,34:
Working capital 15,67¢ 16,31¢ 14,91: 17,94¢ 26,43¢
Total asset 28,557 28,39¢ 32,91 49,24, 70,45
Deferred revenu 3,98¢ 3,05¢ 3,34¢ 3,274 2,764
Long-term debt and capital leases, net of current po 29 1 41 11¢ 21¢€
Shareholder equity 21,73( 22,55¢ 25,89¢ 42 54 62,01°

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of the financial conditiand results of operations of HealthStream shoelteld in conjunction with “Selected
Financial Data” and HealthStream’s Consolidate@haial Statements and related notes thereto indlatsewhere in this report. This
discussion contains forward-looking statementsithadlve risks and uncertainties. HealthStreamtsi@oresults may differ significantly from
the results discussed and those anticipated i tfloesward-looking statements as a result of mantofs, including but not limited to, those
described under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere m iport.

The following discussion provides an overview of bistory together with a summary of our criticataunting policies and estimates. Our
critical accounting policies and estimates inclueleenue recognition, product development costsreladied capitalization, impairment of
goodwill, intangible and other long-lived assetd #éme allowance for doubtful accounts.

OVERVIEW

HealthStream was incorporated in 1990 and begaketiag its Internet-based solutions in March 1988 Company focuses on being a
facilitator of solutions and training tools for #igs in the healthcare industry. Revenues fromhibedthcare organizations business unit
(HCO) are derived from the following categoriesoyision of services through our Internet-based thé&iteam Learning Center, courseware
subscriptions, a variety of complimentary onlinegarcts, and maintenance and support of instalkthieg management products. Revenues
from the pharmaceutical and medical device comjusyness unit (PMD) are derived from live eventelepment, online training and
content development, and other educational anditigservices
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To date, we have incurred substantial costs toldpvaur technologies, create, license, update aaqdire our content, build brand awaren
develop our infrastructure and expand our busirass only recently achieved sufficient revenuegenerate a net profit or positive operating
cash flows. We have incurred operating losses éh &acal quarter from 1994 through the third geadf 2004. During the fourth quarter of
2004 we had net income of approximately $77,000.ewfgect our operating results to continue to improver prior year levels during 2005.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues from our Internet-based ileguproducts and courseware subscriptions to hesithworkers through healthcare
organizations based on a per person subscriptisis,baith fees ranging from less than $1 to moanth6 per month. These fees are based or
the size of the facilities’ or organizations’ emyde@ user population and the service offerings twlvthey subscribe. Contracts for our
Internet-based learning products generally rang fless than $5,000 to approximately $400,000 basetie number of users, products and
services included and the duration of the contfRetienue is recognized ratably over the servicegaf the underlying contract.

Revenues associated with content maintenance eerare recognized on a percentage of completias.bas

We offer training services for clients to facilgantegration of this technology. Fees for trainémg based on the time and efforts of the
personnel involved. Training revenues are generattpgnized upon completion of training serviceasiB online training is generally
included in the initial contract, however, incrertaraining is recognized upon completion.

Revenues from installed learning management predaret associated with ongoing maintenance anditstfsupport services, typically
based on a percentage of the original contract atrenud recognized as revenue over the term ofahéce period, generally one year. Until
early 2002, we also had revenues related to séiestalled learning management products, whichewerognized based upon shipment or
installation of the software.

We have and expect to continue to transition custsrfrom our existing installed learning managenpeatiucts to our Internet-based
learning products. We expect that revenues reguiitom these transition customers will increase mbempared to the annual maintenance
and technical support services fees due to saladdifional services and online courseware.

We recognize revenue from live event developmemnices and online training and content developnsentices based on the percentage of
completion method using labor hours or similar perfance milestones. This methodology requires ergpgestimates regarding the total
expenses or significant milestones associatedthittproject as well as periodic estimates of tlegpss with respect to completion of such
projects. Event registration services revenue $eth@n the contracted services including the erpeetgistrant attendance. Revenues for
these services are recognized upon completioreofdlated events. Sales of products and serviggisaionaceutical and medical device
companies can be subject to seasonal factorsessiti of drug and product introductions, meetind emnference dates and budget cycles for
such companies.

Revenues associated with online training are rezedrover the term of the subscription period cgrahe historical usage period, if usage
typically differs from the subscription period. Adther service revenues are recognized as thedetatrvices are performed or products are
delivered.

We expect to continue to generate revenues by tilagkeur Internet-based products and services adttheare workers through healthcare
organizations and pharmaceutical and medical dexdogpanies. We expect that the portion of our reeenelated to services provided via
our Internet-based learning products will incre&eecifically, we will seek to generate revenuestfihealthcare workers by marketing to
their employers or sponsoring organizations. Tles fge charge for courseware resulting from thisketarg is typically paid by either the
employer or sponsoring organization.

Product Development Costs

Product development costs primarily include ouelinal costs to maintain and internally developvsaffe features and content for our
Internetbased learning and installed learning managemenlugts. Once technological feasibility is achiewed,capitalize payments to thi
parties associated with the cost of features otecdnwhere the life expectancy is greater thany@ae and the anticipated cash flows from
such features or content are expected to exceaeldted cost of the features or content. Durin@g42énd 2003, we capitalized approximately
$600,000 and $400,000, respectively, related tbectrdevelopment completed by third parties. Sunbunts are included in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets undeafitimn “prepaid development fees” and “other asdedsed on remaining useful lives.
During 2004 and 2003, we capitalized approxima$3§0,000 and $25,000, respectively, of softwartufeaenhancements. Such amounts
included in the accompanying balance sheets uhderaption “prepaid expenses and other currentsdss®d “other assets” based on
remaining useful lives. We amortize content anduieadevelopment over the expected life,
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which is generally one to three years. Product idgveent and content development costs that have tegtalized are subject to a periodic
impairment review in accordance with our policy.

Product development costs also include our systeam, which manages our efforts associated witdymbdevelopment and maintenance,
database management, quality assurance and sedtnigyjteam is responsible for new internal prodiestelopment, integration of external
new products, and continued enhancements and rggstheduled maintenance (called ServicePacksitglatform.

We account for Web site development costs in aesare with EITF Issue No. 00-2 “Accounting for Weke®evelopment Costs,” which
provides guidance on when to capitalize versusmesgeosts incurred to develop a Web site. We diggiteosts incurred between the point of
establishing technological feasibility and geneetéase when such costs are material.

In connection with product development, our sigrifit estimates involve the assessment of techmalbigiasibility for new products, as well
as the expected useful life of costs associated métv products and content. Once capitalized, mtoglud content development costs are
subject to the policies and estimates describenllbetgarding goodwill, intangibles and other longtl assets.

Goodwill, intangibles and other long-lived assets

We account for goodwill, intangibles and other ldivgd assets in accordance with Statement of FKiigh#ccounting Standards

(SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Intangible AssetsiitlasSFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairmentisposal of Long-Lived Assets.”
We measure for impairment at the reporting unielasing a discounted cash flow model to deterriieeestimated fair value of the report
units. Our discounted cash flow model containsifigant assumptions and accounting estimates atisabunt rates, future cash flows and
terminal values that could materially affect ouemting results or financial position if they weéoechange significantly in the future. We
perform our goodwill impairment test whenever egamtchanges in facts or circumstances indicateintiyzairment may exist and also during
the fourth quarter each year.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We estimate the allowance for doubtful accountagibioth a specific and non-specific identificatioathod. Management's evaluation
includes reviewing past due accounts on a casexsy loasis, and determining whether an accountdheuleserved, based on the facts and
circumstances surrounding each potentially unctifiecaccount. An allowance is also maintainedaocounts not specifically identified that
may become uncollectible in the future. Uncolleletiaccounts are written-off in the period managerbetieves it has exhausted every
opportunity to collect payment from the customeadRlebt expense is recorded when events or cirameedindicate an additional allowan
is necessary based on our specific identificatigor@ach.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Revenues and Expense Components
The following descriptions of the components ofenewes and expenses apply to the comparison ofseddperations.

RevenuesRevenues for our HCO business unit currently comsgithe provision of services through our Interbased HealthStream Learn
Center (HLC), authoring tools, maintenance and sttpgervices for our installed learning managenpeoducts, maintenance of content,
competency tools and a variety of courseware sigignrs (add-on courseware). Revenues for our PM8&rtess unit consist of live event
development, online training and content develognmmine sales training courses, live educati@udivities for nurses and technicians
conducted within healthcare organizations and oaimg education activities at association meetings.

Cost of Revenue€ost of revenues consists primarily of salaries@m@loyee benefits, employee travel and lodgingenads, contract labo
hosting costs, and other direct expenses assodidtiedevenues as well as royalties paid by usotment providers based on a percentage of
revenues. Personnel costs within cost of reventgeassociated with individuals that facilitate proddelivery, provide services, handle
customer support calls or inquiries, manage our si&s and content delivery, coordinate contenhteaance services, and provide training
or implementation services.

Product DevelopmenProduct development expenses consist primarihalafiies and employee benefits, content acquisttasts before
technological feasibility is achieved, costs assted with the development of content and expeneitassociated with maintaining,
developing and operating our training delivery addinistration platforms. In addition, product dieygnent expenses are associated witt
development of feature enhancements and new pmdeetsonnel costs within product development aelour systems team, product
managers, and other personnel associated withriaantel product development.
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Sales and Marketing Expens&ales and marketing expenses consist primarilglafies, commissions and employee benefits, employe
travel and lodging, advertising, trade shows, priboms, and related marketing costs. Annually, wstlonational users’ group in Nashville
known as The Summit. Personnel costs within saldsw@arketing include our sales and marketing tesmvedl as our account management
group. Our account management personnel are indolith the contract renewal process for existingdital customers, as well as working
to ensure our products and services are fullyzetiliby our customers.

Other General and Administrative Expengether general and administrative expenses consisaply of salaries and employee benefits,
employee travel and lodging, facility costs, offexgenses, fees for professional services, and offerational expenses. Personnel costs
within general and administrative expenses incinde/iduals associated with normal corporate fumtsi (accounting, legal, human resour
administrative, internal information systems, ardaitive management) as well as accreditation psafaals.

Depreciation and AmortizatioiDepreciation and amortization consist of fixed aggpreciation, amortization of intangibles congadkto
have definite lives, and amortization of conteicense fees, software features, and royaltiestpaidntent providers that are of a fixed nat

Other Income/Expens&he primary component of other income is interasbime related to interest earned on cash, cashiaenis and
investments in marketable securities. The primammonent of other expense is interest expensedetatcapital leases.

Executive Summary

During 2004, revenues increased $1.9 million, aR%) to $20.1 million for 2004 from $18.2 millionrf2003. Revenues from our flagship
product, the Internet-based HealthStream Learnientes, increased 26.7% over the prior year, wigileenues from maintenance fees
associated with our HCO installed learning managemeducts and from live event activities in oM unit declined over the prior year.
Our fully implemented subscriber base was approtétpa ,040,000 at the end of 2004, an annual isered 35%. Gross margins (which we
define as revenues less cost of revenues dividedumnues) for 2004 declined compared to 2003, guiiynas a result of personnel expenses
associated with Competency Comp&4sind HospitalDireck, which were accounted for as product developne@0D3, but included in

cost of revenues in 2004. Net loss improved by @% the prior year, primarily related to the irase in revenues and reductions in
amortization, product development, and other gererd administrative expenses, but was partialigedfoy increases in sales and marketing
expense. Net loss per share improved to $(0.053 e for 2004 from $(0.17) per share for 2003.

2004 Compared to 2003

RevenuesRevenues increased approximately $1.9 million,002%, to $20.1 million for 2004 from approximat&¥y8.2 million for 2003.
Revenues for 2004 consisted of $14.0 million fori&nd $6.1 million for PMD. In 2003, revenues ceted of $12.0 million for HCO and
$6.2 million for PMD. HCO revenue increases oved2@esulted from growth in our core product, thielnet-based HLC, content
maintenance services and Competency Comi¥assoduct revenues, while revenues associated witinstalled learning management
products declined as anticipated because of thsitian of customers to our Internet-based HLC pmdRevenues associated with add-on
courseware subscriptions also declined slightlyDPidvenues experienced modest declines during Z00darily resulting from lower live
event revenues, which were partially offset by éases in revenues from sales of content developseevites.

The Internet-based HLC subscriber base increagawe@mately 35% during 2004, from approximately ;00D fully implemented

subscribers at the end of 2003, to approximatél}@,Q00 fully implemented subscribers at the en2l08f4. This increase contributed to a
$2.1 million increase in HCO revenues, while cohtaaintenance service revenues increased $34080Competency CompaB$ product
revenues increased $150,000. These HCO revenweases were partially offset by slight declinesdd-an courseware subscription
revenues. Revenues from maintenance and suppsera$seciated with our installed learning managepertducts also declined, as expected,
by $550,000. This decline is consistent with oanpled transition of these customers to our Intdsased learning platform. We expect
revenues from our installed learning managemerdymts to continue to decline during 2005, as wedigoa to focus on transitioning the
customers using these products to our Interneteblasening platform. We expect revenues from oterimet-based HLC, our Competency
CompasdM product and add-on courseware to increase durif§.20

The PMD unit experienced a modest decline in regemuring 2004. Revenues from the sales of ounemitaining and content development
services increased $130,000 during 2004. This revércrease was offset by a $290,000 decline edivent revenues, in part related to the
pharmaceutical and medical device industry’s casti@sponse to compliance guidelines issued b@t@eand AdvaMed, which were
effective January 1, 2004. These guidelines placklitional regulations on the funding of educatlgragrams. We expect that revenues
from our live event services and content develogrservices will increase during 2005. We also expispitalDirect?, which was

launched during the third quarter of 2003, to gateeincreased revenues during 2005.
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During 2004, 62.1% of revenues were derived fromloternet-based learning products, 18.9% from évent development services, 11.1%
from content development services, 5.2% from ostailfed learning management products and 2.7% &thrar products. During 2003, 57..
of revenues were derived from our Internet-basarhlag products, 22.5% from live event developnsamvices, 11.5% from content
development services and 8.8% from our installadniéag management products.

Cost of Revenue€ost of revenues increased approximately $1.0onillor 16.1%, to $7.3 million for 2004 from appnmétely $6.3 million
for 2003. During 2004, we experienced increasedqrerel expenses, incremental costs associatedneitased content maintenance and
content development revenues, and increased regalsid by us associated with add-on coursewarsegpbons and Competency Compass
™ revenues. Most of the personnel expense increassixiated with our Competency Compédsand HospitalDireck solutions, which
were reflected in product development expense®@32Now that both products are being offered stamers, these personnel costs were
included in cost of revenues in 2004. Cost of reresmas a percentage of revenues increased to 3613304 from 34.4% for 2003. This
increase as a percentage of revenues resultedrimmeased personnel expenses and the change mueeemponents discussed above.

Cost of revenues for HCO increased approximate0¥mO0, or 29.4%, to $2.8 million for 2004 from &2nillion for 2003, and approximat
20.2% and 18.2% of revenues for 2004 and 2003eotisely. This increase is a result of expensesaated with Competency Compdds
personnel, increased hosting costs, and increagedties related to sales of add-on coursewareCamdpetency Compasd¥ . We expect
royalties to increase during 2005, but to remaimgarable or decline slightly as a percentage afdmae. Cost of revenues for PMD increased
$300,000, or 8.3%, to $3.9 million in 2004 from&&illion in 2003, and approximated 63.7% and 57&%evenues for 2004 and 2003,
respectively. This increase is a result of expeasesciated with HospitalDireBpersonnel and higher contract labor and mater@tsc
associated with increases in content developmeehrees.

Cost of revenues for the unallocated corporatetfons increased approximately $70,000, or 13.6985®865,000 in 2004 from $515,000 in
2003. This increase was associated with additipaedonnel expenses. Cost of revenues for our waddid corporate functions is comprised
of content support personnel who handle loadingatipg, maintenance, versioning and support ofetriin our Internet-based learning
platforms, which serve products within both the H&@ PMD business units.

Gross Margin.Gross margin (which we define as revenues lessodosvvenues divided by revenues) declined to 63d@ting 2004 from
65.6% during 2003. This decline is a result ofchange in revenue mix and related cost of revedisesissed above. Gross margins for HCO
were 79.8% and 81.8% for 2004 and 2003, respegti@loss margins for PMD were 36.3% and 42.2% @@4and 2003, respectively.
Gross margins for PMD are lower than HCO due tchiljber costs associated with delivering live evard content development services,
and such costs can vary from project to project.eifgect gross margins for HCO to improve modeatiyrd) 2005 resulting from increases

in Internet-based HLC and aduh courseware subscription revenues. We expecs gnasgins for PMD in 2005 to remain comparableG04
levels.

Product developmenProduct development expenses decreased approxymd@0d,000, or 22.1%, to $2.5 million for 2004 fr&8.2 million
for 2003, and approximated 12.6% and 17.8% of negstior 2004 and 2003, respectively. This redugti@marily resulted from lower
personnel expenses partially due to the redesmmnafipersonnel associated with our Competency Gaesipy and HospitalDireck solutions
from product development in 2003 to cost of revenne2004. In addition, the continued consolidatdproduct development efforts resul
in lower personnel and contract labor expensesid004. New product development efforts duringf2@@re focused on feature
enhancements, and content offerings that build wpmrcore product, the Internet-based HLC. Duri6§4, we launched HealthStream
Express (an economy-scaled version of our Intenased HLC) and several new content offerings tthéurour penetration and also expand
existing customer relationships. We also have sg¢wther content products under development tleaeapected to be launched during the
first quarter of 2005. In addition to amounts e)xgesh we capitalized approximately $900,000 and $00in 2004 and 2003, respectively,
related to content and software features compleyetiird parties.

Product development expenses for HCO increaseaxipmately $100,000, or 4.0%, to $2.0 million for@0from $1.9 million for 2003, and
approximated 14.4% and 16.1% of revenues in 2084803, respectively. During 2004, personnel expeRassociated with Competency
CompasdM were redesignated to cost of revenues. This shdkpense was offset by increased personnel cestximted with platform
maintenance and development of new feature enhamisrfor our Internet-based products. Product adgweént expenses for PMD
decreased approximately $500,000, or 58.0%, to $800for 2004 from $900,000 for 2003, and approxadd.2% and 14.6% of revenues
for 2004 and 2003, respectively. This decline wespeiated with the redesignation of personnel @ssatwith HospitalDireck to cost of
revenues as well as reductions in the developnfesther content products. The unallocated corpguatéion of our product development
expenses decreased approximately $300,000, or 65038200,000 in 2004 from $400,000 in 2003. Thaslohe was a result of a shift to m
HCO related projects.

Sales and Marketing Expens&siles and marketing expenses, including persomsésd,ancreased approximately $400,000, or 8.0%, to
$4.8 million for 2004 from $4.4 million for 2003nd approximated 23.9% and 24.4% of revenues fod 200 2003, respectively. The
increase in the amount of expenses primarily reduttom increases in personnel, primarily thoseaased with account
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management efforts, and increases in commissidmshwvere partially offset by lower advertising amdrketing spending. Commission
expense increased as a result of changes in cormmjdans for 2004. Advertising and marketing spegdevels were lower in 2004 due to
changes in marketing initiatives.

Sales and marketing expense for HCO increased appaitely $400,000, or 13.4%, to $3.5 million for@0from $3.1 million for 2003, and
approximated 25.5% and 26.2% of revenues for 20042803, respectively. This increase in the amob@iBkpenses is primarily a result of
additional account management personnel and refiateel of approximately $500,000. Advertising andrketing expense, excluding
personnel, decreased $100,000 for HCO due to ceangearketing initiatives. Sales and marketingemge for PMD decreased
approximately $100,000 to $1.0 million for 2004rfr&1.1 million for 2003, and approximated 16.9% &B8d)% of revenues for 2004 and
2003, respectively. PMD experienced higher commissixpense in 2004 due to changes in commissiaors fitet 2004, but was partially

offset by reductions in personnel and lower traselvertising and marketing expense, excluding pemsg were comparable between periods
for PMD. Sales and marketing expense for our unatked corporate functions increased slightly, gimt@imated $200,000 for 2004 and
2003.

Depreciation and AmortizatioiDepreciation and amortization decreased approxign&g900,000, or 30.9%, to $2.1 million in 2004 from
$3.0 million in 2003. Amortization decreased $0.diom due to certain intangible assets and prepaittent development becoming fully
amortized. Depreciation expense levels were conypalmtween periods.

Other General and Administrativ®ther general and administrative expenses decreggedximately $400,000, or 7.1%, to $4.6 million f
2004 from $5.0 million for 2003, and approximat&i1®6 and 27.4% of revenues for 2004 and 2003, cisply. The decrease is a result of
lower personnel expenses as a result of consalglatirporate functions.

Other general and administrative expenses for H@aximated $200,000 for both 2004 and 2003, amicqimated 1.2% and 1.5% of
revenues for 2004 and 2003, respectively. Otheeiggiand administrative expenses for PMD decreappdbximately $100,000, to $100,000
for 2004 from $200,000 for 2003, and approximaté@®¥dand 3.6% of revenues for 2004 and 2003, reispdctThe decrease for PMD
resulted from reductions in personnel. Other gdraard administrative expenses for the unallocatedarate functions decreased $200,00
$4.4 million for 2004 from $4.6 million for 2003his reduction resulted from lower personnel anéotorporate expenses.

Other Income/Expens®ther income/expense decreased approximately $1@000 37.3%, to $240,000 for 2004 from $380,0002f203.
The decrease resulted from a reduction of inténesime from investments in marketable securitiesdure to lower invested balances and
lower yield rates.

Net LossNet loss decreased approximately $2.4 million,®B8%b, to a loss of $1.0 million for 2004 from adax $3.4 million for 2003, due
to the factors mentioned above.

2003 Compared to 2002

RevenuesRevenues increased approximately $2.4 million,502%, to $18.2 million for 2003 from approximat&¥5.8 million for 2002.
Revenues for 2003 consisted of $12.0 million fori&nd $6.2 million for PMD. In 2002, revenues ceted of $9.8 million for HCO and
$6.0 million for PMD. HCO revenue increases oved2@esulted from growth in our core product, thielnet-based HLC and sales of aatd-
courseware subscriptions, while revenues assocgtadur installed learning management productdided. PMD revenues increased
slightly over 2002, primarily resulting from salescontent development services.

The Internet-based HLC subscriber base increagawe@mately 33% during 2003, from approximately 38D fully implemented
subscribers at the end of 2002, to approximate;aQ0 fully implemented subscribers at the end 2008 increase contributed to a

$2.2 million increase in HCO revenues, while cowae subscription revenues increased $1.1 millimng 2003, primarily associated with
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountabifigt of 1996 (HIPAA). Revenues from maintenance ampport fees associated with our
installed learning management products declinefi@®0,000. This decline was consistent with a pldrtrensition of these customers to our
Internet-based learning platform.

The PMD unit experienced moderate revenue growtingd2003. Revenues from the sales of our conteméldpment services increased
during 2003. This revenue growth was partially etfisy moderate declines in live event revenuepamrelated to the pharmaceutical and
medical device industry’s cautious response to damge guidelines issued by the OIG in April 2008t relate to the funding of educational
programs.

During 2003, 57.2% of revenues were derived fromloternet-based learning products, 22.5% from éivent development services, 11.5%
from content development services and 8.8% fromirmialled learning management products. During22@8.3% of revenues related to our
Internet-based learning products, 27.1% relatdidecevent services, 15.3% related to our instakeaining management products, and 12.3%
related to content development services.
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Cost of Revenue€ost of revenues increased approximately $300@08,0%, to $6.3 million for 2003 from approximat&6.0 million for
2002. During 2003, we experienced increased r@gftom sales of courseware subscriptions, prignatiPAA. Contract labor expenses also
increased resulting from outsourcing content dguakent services. These increases were partiallgtffig lower personnel expense and
travel, due to reductions in personnel. Cost oénexes as a percentage of revenues decreased fr8% & 2002 to 34.4% for 2003. This
decrease as a percentage of revenues resultednftozased revenues and the change in revenue cemigatiscussed above.

Cost of revenues for HCO increased approximate0E®O0, or 13.8%, to $2.2 million for 2003 from $illion for 2002, and approximat
18.2% and 19.7% of revenues for 2003 and 2002¢eotisely. Royalties increased during 2003, reldtesiales of add-on courseware,
primarily HIPAA. This increase was partially offdgf a reduction in personnel related expenses. @aswenues for PMD decreased
$100,000, or 3.2%, to $3.6 million in 2003 from B&illion in 2002, and approximated 57.8% and 61df%evenues for 2003 and 2002,
respectively. This decline is primarily relatedoersonnel expense and travel reductions, and wéallyaoffset by increased contract labor
costs associated with content development seniest. of revenues for the unallocated corporatetfans increased approximately $200,
to $500,000 in 2003 from $300,000 in 2002, as alred additional content support personnel whodtatoading, maintenance, versioning
and support of content on our Internet-based lagrpiatform.

Gross Margin.Gross margin (which we define as revenues lessodosvvenues divided by revenues) improved to 65d6%tng 2003 from
62.2% during 2002. This improvement is a resuihofeased revenues as well as the change in reveixué&ross margins for HCO were
81.8% and 80.3% for 2003 and 2002, respectivelgs&margins for PMD were 42.2% and 38.9% for 20082002, respectively. Gross
margins for PMD are lower than HCO due to the higltests associated with delivering live event aowitent development services, and such
costs can vary from project to project.

Product developmerProduct development expenses decreased approxyndtdl million, or 30.6%, to $3.3 million for 200&m

$4.7 million for 2002, and approximated 17.8% afBdb2 of revenues for 2003 and 2002, respectivelys feduction primarily resulted from
lower personnel expenses associated with the ddatioh of our product development efforts. Prociletelopment efforts during 2003 were
focused on launching products, feature enhancemamiscontent that build upon our core producttiernet-based HLC. During 2003, we
launched several new products to meet this objeciincluding HospitalDired®, Competency Compas¥ , and an authoring solution for the
Internet-based HLC.

Product development expenses for HCO decreasedxapyately $1.3 million, or 40.4%, to $1.9 millionrf2003 from $3.2 million for 2002,
and approximated 16.1% and 33.2% of revenues i8 280 2002, respectively. The decrease is primas$pciated with the consolidation of
product development efforts. During 2003, the HG@ launched Competency Compd¥sand an authoring solution for the Internet-based
HLC. Product development expenses for PMD increapgtoximately $200,000, or 37.2%, to $900,002f03 from $700,000 for 2002,
and approximated 14.6% and 10.9% of revenues 08 20d 2002, respectively. The increase is atalilatto costs associated with the
development of HospitalDire€tas well as development and maintenance of othéenbproducts for medical industry representatifés
unallocated corporate portion of our product depeient expenses decreased approximately $400,0@8, &, to $400,000 in 2003 from
$800,000 in 2002. This was a result of personrdtigBons and a shift to projects that benefit tlgfprms for both the HCO and PMD
business unit products.

Sales and Marketing Expens&sles and marketing expenses, including persomséd,cdecreased approximately $2.0 million, or 8).®
$4.4 million for 2003 from $6.4 million for 2002nd approximated 24.4% and 40.7% of revenues foB 20@ 2002, respectively. This
decrease primarily resulted from lower commissioeductions in personnel related expenses and travet reduced advertising and
marketing spending. Commission expense is lowerrasult of changes in commission plans for 20@Blewer activity levels during the fii
half of the year. Personnel expense and relatedltciecreases are a result of reductions in peedoAdvertising and marketing spending
levels were lower in 2003 due to changes in mangdtiitiatives.

Sales and marketing expense for HCO decreasedxaptely $1.8 million to $3.1 million for 2003 fro®4.9 million for 2002, and
approximated 35.3% and 49.8% of revenues for 20032802, respectively. This decrease is attribet&blower commissions of $900,000,
personnel expense and travel reductions of $50GA00ower advertising and marketing expenses 00 E®0. Commissions decreased as a
result of changes in the commission plan for 20@8lawer headcount. Personnel expense and travel lswer due to fewer sales and
marketing personnel. Advertising and marketing esgedecreases, excluding personnel, were attrileutalchanges in marketing initiatives.
Sales and marketing expense for PMD decreasedxpyately $400,000 to $1.1 million for 2003 from $million for 2002, and
approximated 18.0% and 24.7% of revenues for 20032802, respectively. The decrease resulted fooverd personnel expenses and travel
of $200,000 due to lower headcount, and lower casimins of $100,000 due to lower sales personnetedated sales activity. Advertising
and marketing expense, excluding personnel, desie®i00,000, primarily due to changes in markeitit@atives. Sales and marketing
expense for our unallocated corporate functionseamed approximately $100,000 during 2003.
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Depreciation and AmortizatioiDepreciation and amortization decreased approxisn&fie3 million, or 30.7%, to $3.1 million in 2068 m
$4.4 million in 2002. Amortization decreased $1.illiom due to certain intangible assets and prepaittent development becoming fully
amortized. Depreciation decreased $200,000 dumnterlfixed asset purchases over the past two ysaneell as assets becoming fully
depreciated.

Other General and Administrativ®ther general and administrative expenses decregg@dximately $1.4 million, or 22.2%, to $5.0 naifi
for 2003 from $6.4 million for 2002, and approximat27.4% and 40.6% of revenues for 2003 and 2@8pectively. The decrease is a result
of lower personnel expenses and corporate operakpgnses as a result of consolidating corporatetifons.

Other general and administrative expenses for HE@ehsed approximately $900,000, to $200,000 f68 2m $1.1 million for 2002, and
approximated 1.5% and 11.6% of revenues for 2002802, respectively. The decrease for HCO restiltad a redesignation of certain
personnel to corporate, headcount reductions, tret expense reductions. Other general and admaitiis expenses for PMD decreased
approximately $700,000, to $200,000 for 2003 frd#9Ck000 for 2002, and approximated 3.6% and 15.f7éévenues for 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The decrease for PMD resulted froadheunt reductions and a redesignation of cerisgnnel and operating expenses to
corporate. Other general and administrative expeftsehe unallocated corporate functions increaggaoximately $200,000 primarily as a
result of the redesignation of executive managerpergonnel and certain operating expenses to aaorhis realignment resulted in an
additional $1.1 million of unallocated expensesichitwas offset by headcount and operating expesthactions of $900,000 resulting from
consolidating our corporate functions. The offiomsolidation charge and impairment losses recodriiz€002 did not recur in 2003.

Other Income/Expens@ther income/expense decreased approximately $30000 46.1%, to $400,000 for 2003 from $700,0002f202.
The decrease resulted from a reduction of inténesime from investments in marketable securitiesdure to lower invested balances and
lower yield rates.

Net LossNet loss decreased approximately $13.2 milliory ©6%, to a loss of $3.4 million for 2003 from admf $16.6 million for 2002.
Net loss before the cumulative effect of a chamgacicounting principle of $5.0 million, decreas&2$million, or 70.7%, to a loss
$3.4 million for 2003 from a loss of $11.6 millidor 2002, due to the factors mentioned above.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS

The following tables set forth selected stateméiiperations data for the eight quarters ended ibbee 31, 2004 both in absolute dollars

as a percentage of total revenues. The inform&tioeach quarter has been prepared on substarthallyame basis as the audited statements
included in other parts of this report and, in opinion, includes all adjustments, consisting dfyarormal recurring adjustments, necessary
for a fair presentation of the results of operatifor these periods. You should read this infororain conjunction with HealthStream'’s
Consolidated Financial Statements and related tlogégsto included elsewhere in this report. Theatigg results for any quarter are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expkatehe future.

Quarters Ended
March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31
2004 2004 2004 2004
(In thousands, except per share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenues, ne $ 4906 $4691 $ 503 $  5,42¢
Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 1,89( 1,751 1,77¢ 1,86(
Product developmel 647 634 65¢ 591
Sales and marketir 1,157 1,20t 1,101 1,33¢
Depreciatior 314 33C 344 37¢
Amortization 174 17t 192 20C
Other general and administrative exper 1,19t 1,17C 1,20z 1,067
Total operating costs and expen 5,37i 5,26¢ 5,27¢ 5,432
Loss from operation (469) (5749 (242) (6)
Other income 50 45 65 83
Net income (loss $ (419 $ (529 $ a7y $ 77
Net income (loss) per sha- basic $ (002 $ (009 $ (0.0) 3 0.0C
Net income (loss) per she- diluted $ (0.0 $ (0.05 $ (0.0)) $ 0.0C
Weighted average shares of common stock outsta— basic 20,445 20,58! 20,65¢ 20,66(
Weighted average shares of common stock outstar diluted 20,44 20,581 20,65¢ 21,124
Quarters Ended
March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31
2003 2003 2003 2003

(In thousands, except per share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenues, ne $ 4417 $467C $ 434: $  4,76¢
Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 1,49¢ 1,604 1,402 1,76¢
Product developmel 95k 811 77C 711
Sales and marketir 1,12¢ 1,23¢ 93¢ 1,14z
Depreciatior 37¢€ 37¢ 343 274
Amortization 52C 47¢ 44k 232
Other general and administrative exper 1,42: 1,27¢ 1,15:% 1,131
Total operating costs and expen 5,89¢ 5,787 5,051 5,251
Loss from operation (1,482) (1,119 (709 (497
Other income 128 10€ 85 73
Net loss $(1,359 $(1,01) $ (624 $ (41€)
Net loss per shar- basic and dilute $ (0.0 $ (005 $ (0.0 $ (0.09)
Weighted average shares of common stock outsta— basic and dilute: 20,30¢ 20,36! 20,42 20,44
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Quarters Ended
March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31
2004 2004 2004 2004
(% of Revenues)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenue! 100.( 100.( 100.( 100.(
Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 38.t 37.2 35.2 34.2
Product developmel 13.2 13.t 13.1 10.¢
Sales and marketir 23.€ 25.7 21.¢ 24.€
Depreciatior 6.4 7.C 6.8 7.C
Amortization 3.5 3.7 3.8 3.7
Other general and administrative exper 24.¢ 25.C 23.€ 19.7
Total operating costs and expen 109.t 112.2 104.¢ 100.1
Loss from operation (9.5) (12.2) (4.8 0.2
Other income 1.0 1.C 1.3 1t
Net income (loss (8.5) (11.2) (3.5 1.4

Quarters Ended
March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31
2003 2003 2003 2003
(% of Revenues)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenue: 100.( 100.( 100.( 100.(
Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 33.¢ 34.: 32.2 37.1
Product developmel 21.¢ 17.2 17.7 14.¢
Sales and marketir 25.¢ 26.5 21.€ 24.C
Depreciatior 8.5 8.1 7.9 5.7
Amortization 11.¢ 10.2 10.z 4.9
Other general and administrative exper 32.2 27.4 26.€ 23.7
Total operating costs and expen 133.¢ 123.¢ 116.: 110.:
Loss from operation (33.6¢) (23.9 (16.9) (10.9)
Other income 2.8 2.3 2.C 1.E
Net loss (30.¢) (21.€) (14.3) (8.8

Factors Affecting Quarterly Operating Results

Revenues from our subscription products are reeeghniatably over the subscription term. Revenuas fsales of products and services to
pharmaceutical and medical device companies caulject to seasonal factors as a result of timfrgpoferences and live events as well as
drug and product introductions and budget cyclesfich companies.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have financed our operatlargely through proceeds from our IPO, privateepments of equity securities, loans
from related parties and, to an increasing exfen) revenues generated from the sale of our pitsdutd services.

Net cash provided by operating activities was apipmately $400,000 during 2004 compared to approtétyebl.1 million used in operatir
activities during 2003. The improvement in cashstomption primarily resulted from our improved opera results as indicated by the
$2.4 million decline in our net loss, which wasseff by an increase in accounts and unbilled rebkigaof $1.5 million and prepaid
development fees of $600,000. The number of ddgs saitstanding (DSO) for 2004 was 72 days comp@&@ days for 2003. This incre:
was primarily due to the increase in accounts wat®é associated with the timing of billings at #rel of 2004. The Company calculates [
by dividing the accounts receivable balance (exolydnbilled and other receivables) by averageydawenues for the year. The primary t
of cash for 2004 were to fund operations and puwebaf content and feature enhancements. The pgrimsas of cash for 2003 were to fund
operations and payout of employee bonuses thateared in 2002.
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Net cash used in investing activities was approéhgebl.5 million in 2004 while approximately $90@was provided by investing activiti

in 2003. Investments in marketable securities du2ifi04 and 2003 were primarily comprised of auctate securities, which typically trade
on a monthly basis. During 2004, the proceeds fiteersale and maturity of marketable securities apgsoximately $19.0 million, while
purchases of marketable securities was approxigndifed.1 million. During 2003, the proceeds from thaturity of marketable securities was
approximately $13.8 million, while purchases of kedable securities was approximately $13.0 millidoquisitions of property and
equipment approximated $1.6 million and $720,000ndu2004 and 2003, respectively. Our capital addst during 2004 and 2003 were
primarily comprised of hardware and software topsrpthe growth of our product infrastructure, paiity our Internet-based learning
platform. Also during 2004, we received proceedapgroximately $230,000 from the repayment of & meteivable — related party.

Cash provided by financing activities was approxaha$175,000 and $120,000 during 2004 and 20Gpeetively. The primary sources of
cash for both 2004 and 2003 resulted from processsciated with the issuance of common stock froth the exercise of employee stock
options and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan tdiffspayments under capital lease obligations.

As of December 31, 2004, our primary source ofitliy was $16.5 million of cash and cash equivadengstricted cash, investments in
marketable securities, and related interest rebtsvaVe have no bank credit facility or other ingkelness other than capital lease obligations.
As of February 28, 2005, we had cash and cash &lguits, restricted cash, investments and relatedeist receivable of approximately

$17.8 million. The primary increase in cash ancaeaguivalents, restricted cash, investments in etalite securities, and related interest
receivable since December 31, 2004 resulted framebeipt of grant funds from commercial supporters

We believe that our cash and cash equivalentsjatest cash, investments in marketable securitielsralated interest receivable will be
sufficient to meet anticipated cash needs for wayldapital, new product development, capital exjiares and acquisitions for at least the
next 12 months. As part of our growth strategy aneactively reviewing possible acquisitions thanplement our products and services.
anticipate that these acquisitions, if any, willdfected through a combination of stock and castsicleration. The issuance of stock as
consideration for an acquisition could have a dikieffect on our stock price. Failure to genegatHicient cash flow from operations or raise
additional capital when required during or follogiany potential acquisitions in sufficient amouatsl on terms acceptable to us could harm
our business, financial condition and results adrafions.

Commitments and Contingencies

We expect that our capital expenditures and comqterthases will be approximately $3.0 million ir080 From January 1, through
February 28, 2005, we had capital expenditureppfaimately $400,000, primarily related to hardevand software additions. In
January 2005, we entered into a capital leasedimpater hardware, in which total estimated paymargsapproximately $114,000 over a
three year term.

Our strategic alliances have typically providedgayments to content partners based on revenuedeaetbpment partners and other parties
based on services rendered. We expect to contimikisarrangements in the future. In additionese commitments, we have capital lease
obligations and operating lease commitments foroparating facilities in Nashville, TN and Denv€Q, and a closed facility in Dallas, TX.

A summary of future anticipated payments for commeitts and other contractual obligations are owtlinelow:

Payments due by peric

More than !
Less than 1 ye 1-3 years 3-5 years years Total
Capital lease obligatior $ 63,93¢ $107,62' $ 3,17« $ — $ 174,73t
Operating lease 469,83 328,72: 215,40¢ 26,92¢ 1,040,89;
Purchase commitmen 226,79! 135,00( — — 361,79!
Other contractual obligatior 75,00( 37,50( — — 112,50(
Total $ 835,57 $608,84¢ $218,58. $ 26,92¢ $1,689,92!

Purchase commitments include minimum purchasesdjy center services and computer software. Othraractual obligations consist of
fixed commitments resulting from agreements withioaas business partners.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The extent of the Company’s off-balance sheet gearents is described above.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Stansl&uolrd (FASB) issued Statement of Financial ActiogrStandards No. 123®, “Share-
Based Payments.” Statement 123® supersedes Acngurttinciples Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accourgifor Stock Issued to
Employees,” and will require companies to recogrizmpensation expense, using a fair-value basedametor costs related to share-based
payments, including stock options. The Statemeeffective in the first interim or annual reportipgriod beginning after June 15, 2005. The
Company intends to adopt Statement 123® in the tuarter of 2005, and to implement it on a prospedasis. We are currently assessing
the impact the Statement will have on our constdidaesults of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No0.153, HBrges of Nonmonetary Assets,” which amends APBIiOpiNo. 29. The guidance
in APB 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactignis based on the principle that exchanges of rametary assets should be measured
based on the fair value of the assets exchangedamiendment made by Statement 153 eliminates teptan for exchanges of similar
productive assets and replaces it with a broadeemion for exchanges of nonmonetary assets thabtlbave commercial substance. The
provisions of the statement are effective for exgjes taking place in fiscal periods beginning aftere 15, 2005. We do not believe the
adoption of this Statement will have any impacbon consolidated financial position or results pémations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

We are exposed to market risk from changes inésteates. We do not have any foreign currencyangh rate risk or commodity price risk.
As of December 31, 2004, we had no outstandingbitedimess other than approximately $54,000 of ddp#ae obligations. Accordingly, the
Company is not exposed to significant interest nadeket risk with respect to liabilities. The Compas exposed to market risk with respect
to its cash and investment balances. At Decemhe2@M, the Company had cash and cash equivatestdacted cash, investments in
marketable securities, and related interest rebtvataling approximately $16.5 million. Currenvestment rates of return approximate 2-
3%. Assuming a 2.5% rate of return on $16.5 milli@mypothetical 10% decrease in interest rateddrdecrease interest income and incr
the net loss on an annualized basis by approxign&tl,000.

The Company manages its investment risk by invegstircorporate debt securities, foreign corporatet @nd secured corporate debt
securities with minimum acceptable credit ratirfgs:. certificates of deposit and corporate obligaiaatings must be A2/A or better; A1/P1
or better for commercial paper; A2/A or better taxable or tax advantaged auction rate securitidsfA or better for tax free auction rate
securities. The Company also requires that allrigeEsimust mature within 24 months from the oradisettlement date, the average portfolio
shall not exceed 18 months, and the greater of @0$6.0 million shall mature within 90 days. Furtithe Company’s investment policy also
limits concentration exposure and other potenisid areas.

The above market risk discussion and the estimatealints presented are forward-looking statementsaoket risk assuming the occurrence
of certain adverse market conditions. Actual resinltthe future may differ materially from thos@jacted as a result of actual developments
in the market.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
HealthStream, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of HealthStream, Inc. as of Decembe2®¥ and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholeiguity (deficit), and cash flows for each of tineee years in the period ended
December 31, 2004. These financial statementdareesponsibility of the Company’s management. i@sponsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration tdrimal control over financial reporting as a bdsisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for tingpse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveiéshe Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nolsopinion. An audit also includes examining, omst basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemasgessing the accounting principles used andfisamt estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement gméstion. We believe that our audits provide agrable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
HealthStream, Inc. at December 31, 2004 and 20GBtte consolidated results of its operations &édash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2004, in confgrmith U.S. generally accepted accounting prinagple

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, in 2002, the Company changed itsadathaccounting for goodwill and ott
intangible assets upon adoption of a new accoumstisugdard.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Nashville, Tennesse
February 16, 2005
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel

Investments in short term marketable secur
Restricted cas

Interest receivabl

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fctounts of $234,167

and $278,502 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, resglgc
Accounts receivabl- unbilled
Prepaid development fees, net of amortiza
Other prepaid expenses and other current a
Total current asse
Property and equipmer
Furniture and fixture
Equipment
Leasehold improvemen

Less accumulated depreciation and amortize

Goodwill

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortizaifd6,695,922
and $6,351,860 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, atsgly

Notes receivabl- related party

Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued liabilities

Accrued compensation and related expe

Registration liabilities

Commercial support liabilitie

Deferred revenu

Current portion of capital lease obligatic

Total current liabilities

Capital lease obligations, less current por
Commitments and contingenci
Shareholder equity:

Common stock, no par value, 75,000,000 shares argialp 20,667,515 and 20,455,746
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,8@D2003, respective

Accumulated other comprehensive inca
Accumulated defici

Total shareholde’ equity
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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December 31,

December 31,

2004 2003
$ 2,257,37. $ 3,219,80
14,025,00  13,957,70
184,04 723,87
25,89 119,26
3,990,591  2,497,99
596,87 592,53t
542,82 238,56t
850,52 805,97(
22,473,13  22,155,72
931,11 920,72
6,402,34  4,896,39
1,267,13  1,239,35:
8,600,59.  7,056,47.
(6,281,31) _ (5,053,53)
2,319,28  2,002,94
3,306,68  3,306,68
166,22( 510,28:
— 233,00
291,77 190,00
$28,557,10 $28,398,64
$ 830,94 $ 86497
1,117,36 967,99
284,30 172,95(
174,69 735,26t
378,89 —
3,987,69°  3,059,24
24,11 39,02(
6,798,000  5,839,45!
29,42¢ 1,19¢
91,642,38  91,416,85
— 5,47¢

(69,912,71) (68,864,33)
21,729,66 22,557,98
$ 28,557,10 $ 28,398,64
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues, ne
Operating costs and expens

HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

$20,057,30 $18,195,07 $ 15,789,59.

Cost of revenue 7,277,17.  6,267,74 5,970,49i
Product developmel 2,531,17 3,247,241 4,678,82
Sales and marketir 4,798,68  4,444,99 6,425,02
Depreciatior 1,366,211  1,371,01. 1,632,96!
Amortization of intangibles, content fees, featanancements, fixed royalties,

and prepaid compensati 740,54: 1,676,45 2,761,50
Other general and administrative exper 4,634,37  4,986,31 6,409,57
Office consolidation charg — — 164,78:

Impairment of lon-lived asset: — — 105,00(
Total operating costs and expen 21,348,17 21,993,76 28,148,17

Loss from operation
Other income (expense

(1,290,86) (3,798,69) (12,358,57)

Interest and other incon 258,14 415,41t 776,72
Interest expens (13,09Y (22,46¢) (29,926
Other expens (2,565 (6,286) (29,467
242,48: 386,66« 717,33t
Net loss, before cumulative effect of a changecitoanting principle (1,048,38) (3,412,03) (11,641,24)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prite — — (5,000,000
Net loss $(1,048,38() $(3,412,03) $(16,641,24)
Net loss per shar
Basic and diluted net loss before cumulative effée change in accounting princiy $ (0.05) $ 0.17) % (0.57)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prite — — (0.25)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.05) $ 019 % (0.82)

Weighted average shares of common stock outstan

Basic and dilutes 20,585,82 20,383,13 _ 20,261,06

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)

Accumulated

Other Total

Common Stock Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholder¢

Shares Amount Deficit Income Equity (Deficit)

Balance at December 31, 2C 20,372,54 $91,275,28 $(48,811,06) $ 79,24( $ 42,543,45
Net loss — — (16,641,24) — (16,641,24)
Unrealized gain on investments in marketable séesrinet of ta — — — 46,29¢ 46,29¢
Comprehensive los (16,594,94)
Issuance of common stock to Employee Stock Purdhkst 35,77( 38,00¢ — — 38,00¢
Issuance of stock options to advisory bo: — 11,38¢ — — 11,38¢
Modification of stock option grar — 5,411 — — 5,411

Retirement of common stock in connection with EMIlescrow

resolution (85,62%)  (107,03) — — (107,03)
Balance at December 31, 2C 20,322,68 91,223,05 (65,452,30) 125,53t  25,896,28
Net loss — —  (3,412,03) — (3,412,03)
Unrealized loss on investments in marketable seéesyinet of ta — — — (120,06 (120,06
Comprehensive los (3,532,09)
Exercise of stock optior 88,31¢ 150,36( — — 150,36(
Issuance of common stock to Employee Stock Purdhkzst 44,74( 38,02¢ — — 38,02¢
Modification of stock option grar — 5,412 — — 5,417
Balance at December 31, 2C 20,455,74 91,416,85 (68,864,33) 547t 22,557,98
Net loss — —  (1,048,38) — (1,048,38i)
Unrealized loss on investments in marketable seéesyinet of ta: — — — (5,479 (5,475
Comprehensive los (1,053,85)
Exercise of stock optior 121,50: 148,80« — — 148,80«
Issuance of common stock to Employee Stock Purdhkst 90,26¢ 76,72¢ — — 76,72¢
Balance at December 31, 2C 20,667,51 $91,642,38 $(69,912,71) $ — $21,729,66

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior

Amortization of intangibles, content fees, featanhancements, fixed royalties,

and prepaid compensati
Provision for doubtful accoun
Office consolidation charg
Impairment of lon-lived asset:
Non cash compensation expel
Realized loss on disposal of property and equipt
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prite

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, exatudffects of acquisition:

Accounts and unbilled receivabl
Restricted cas

Interest receivabl

Prepaid development fe

Other prepaid expenses and other current a
Other asset

Accounts payabl

Accrued liabilities and compensati
Registration liabilities

Commercial support liabilitie
Deferred revenu

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from maturities and sale of investmentsarketable securitie
Purchase of investments in marketable secul

Repayments on note receiva- related part

Purchase of property and equipm

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Issuance of common stock to Employee Stock Purdhkst
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti

Payments on capital lease obligatit

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

Net decrease in cash and cash equiva
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest paic

Capital lease obligations incurr
Issuance of common stock to advisory boi

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

$ (1,048,38) $ (3,412,03) $(16,641,24)

1,366,211 1,371,01  1,632,96
74054: 1,676,445  2,761,50
40,00( 192,50 295,00
— — 164,78
— — 105,00
— 5,412 16,79¢
1,15¢ 14,81 18,63’
— — 5,000,001
(1,536,93)  311,75¢ 394,68:
539,83 111,55¢  (315,25)
93,36 187,24 231,07¢
(582,739  (269,54) (127,319
(127,309 (246,89 (66,179
(83,750  107,26: 419,79;
(34,039 146,17  (170,45)
260,72;  (802,37) 117,71
(560,569  (165,38) 266,86t
378,89: — —
928,44¢  (286,97() 72,39¢
375,46! (1,059,01) (5,823,22)
18,951,00 13,809,00 15,568,33
(19,077,04) (13,000,00) (9,697,81)
233,00: — —
(1,620,90)  (720,48)  (625,53)
(1,513,94) 88,51¢  5,244,98:
76,72¢ 38,02 38,00
148,80 150,36
(49,48 (67,71) (137,56
176,04 120,67: (99,56)
(962,43)  (849,82)  (677,80)
3,219,80  4,069,63  4,747,43

$ 2,257,37. $ 3,219,80 $ 4,069,63.

$ 13,09t $ 22,46¢ $ 29,92¢
$ 62,80« $ — 3 —
$ — $ — $ 11,38¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Reporting Entity

HealthStream, Inc. (“the Company”) was incorporéatedi990 as a Tennessee corporation and is bad¢alsinville, Tennessee. We provide
Internet-based services and solutions to meetrigeing training and continuing education need$efhealthcare community. These
solutions provide, deliver and track computer basdtation for our customers in the United Statesugh our application service provider
(ASP) products and installed learning managemerdymts. We also provide the healthcare communitly livie event development services,
content maintenance and development services,saistance in the development of other educatiactalies, provided in a live, written, or
online format.

Business Segments

We operate our business in two segments: 1) serpicevided to healthcare organizations and prajesss, and 2) services provided to
pharmaceutical and medical device companies. Servihealthcare organizations and professionelisda offerings of our Internet-based
learning products, including authoring, maintenaacd support of our installed learning managemesdyxcts, courseware subscriptions,
content maintenance, and competency tools. Ouicesrio pharmaceutical and medical device compamédsde live and online educational
training activities for healthcare professionatsmtent development services, as well as onlineitrgifor medical industry representatives.

Recognition of Revenue

Revenues are derived from providing services thnaug Internet-based learning products, maintenandesupport of our installed learning
management products, courseware subscriptionsgligat development, content maintenance and dawelopand other education and
training services.

We recognize revenue in accordance with Americatitirte of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) &ment of Position (SOP) 97-2,
“Software Revenue Recognition,” SEC Staff AccougtiBulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition,” Emergisgues Task Force (EITF) Issue
No. 9¢-19 “Reporting Revenue Gross Versus Net,” EITFésNio. 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple iRelables” and other
authoritative guidance. This guidance provides teetnue recognized from software and other arraegés is to be allocated to each eler
of the arrangement based on the relative fair wahig¢he elements. While elements include softyaogelucts and post contract customer
support, fair value of each element is based oeabbe evidence specific to the vendor. If fairusatannot be determined for each element of
the arrangement, all revenue from the arrangenseseferred until fair value can be determined dil ail elements of the arrangement are
delivered and customer acceptance has occurress 8abur Internet-based learning products includgomer support, implementation
services, and training; therefore all revenuesdaferred until the Internet-based learning prodmanplemented, at which time revenues are
recognized ratably over the subscription servigégogeIn the event that circumstances occur whigke gse to uncertainty regarding the
collectibility of contracted amounts, revenue redtign is suspended until such uncertainty is reso)

Revenues derived from the delivery of servicesubhoour Internet-based learning products and caunsesubscriptions are recognized
ratably over the term of the subscription servigeeament. Software support and maintenance reverasesiated with our installed learning
management products are recognized ratably ovdethreof the related agreement, generally one y@guer training revenues are generally
recognized upon the completion of training.

We recognize revenue from live event developmenices and content maintenance and developmeritsesriiased on the percentage of
completion method using labor hours or similar éveibestones. All other revenues are recognizetth@selated services are performed or
products are delivered.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of the Company and its subsidiaries, alltith are wholly-owned. All inter-
company accounts and transactions have been etadiiraconsolidation.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)

Reclassifications

Investments in auction rate securities, which wesater available-for-sale securities, have beelassified from “Cash and cash equivalents
to “Investments in short term marketable secufitesDecember 31, 2003. We previously considered suastments cash equivalents du
the short-term nature of their relative auctioredatvhich typically occur every 30 days. We redfaest$11 million of auction rate securities
from cash equivalents to investments in short terainketable securities on our December 31, 2003 balaheet, and modified our statement
of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003clude gross sales of $2 million and purchagekl 3 million related to our
investments in marketable securities. This rediassion did not change our working capital or ksof operations, but did reduce net cash
provided by investing activities on our consolidhstatement of cash flows for the year ended Deeeib, 2003. This reclassification did
not impact any disclosures associated with the gaded December 31, 2002.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assas it affect the amounts reported in the findrst&@ements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimated anch differences could be material to the codat#id financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider cash and cash equivalents to be uistedtrhighly liquid investments with initial matties of less than three months.
Restricted Cash

Cash received for registration fees is classifedestricted cash on the accompanying consolidzthce sheets. The use of this cash is
restricted because it is held on behalf of the cenasal supporter until services have been rendatadhich time the registration fees are
to pay certain expenses and fees for conductinggtlervices. Excess registration funds are typicathitted to the commercial supporter or
applied to other projects. Any deficiency in regitibn funds is billed to the commercial supporter.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company estimates its allowance for doubtfubaaots using a specific identification method. Mgaraent determines the allowance for
doubtful accounts on a case-by-case basis, bastttb dacts and circumstances surrounding each fatgruncollectible receivable. An
allowance is also maintained for accounts thahatespecifically identified that may become uncdiilele in the future. Uncollectible
receivables are written-off in the period managermeltieves it has exhausted every opportunity tiecopayment from the customer. Bad
debt expense is recorded when events or circunesandicate an additional allowance is requireceiam our specific identification
approach. Changes in the allowance for doubtfubawts and the amounts charged to bad debt expesrseas follows:

Allowance
Balance at Charged ta Allowance
Beginning of Costs and Balance at
Period Expenses Write- Offs End of Period
Year ended December @
2004 $ 278,50. $ 40,00C $ 84,338 $ 234,16
2003 $ 295,70 $192,50( $209,70: $ 278,50:
2002 $ 288,15¢ $295,000 $287,45. $ 295,70:

Investments in marketable securities

Investments in marketable securities are classifedvailable-fosale and are stated at fair market value, withuamgalized gains and loss
net of tax, reported in other comprehensive incom¢éhe accompanying consolidated balance sheedizB& gains and losses and decline
market value judged to be other-than-temporarnjngestments in marketable securities are includeadtémest and other income on the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatidres cost of securities sold is based on the spadiéntification method. Interest and
dividends on securities classified as availablesfle are included in interest and other incoméheraccompanying consolidated statements
of operations.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Investments in marketable securities (continued)

The Company invests in auction rate securitieq@@te debt securities, foreign corporate debtsaudred corporate debt securities with
minimum acceptable credit ratings. The Companysdias investments in auction rate securities astdlerm investments although their
scheduled maturities may be greater than 12 momttis.determination is based on management’s imtehotlding such securities for less
than 12 months from the current balance sheet date.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated on the basisstf Depreciation and amortization are providedhanstraight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives, except for assetder capital leases and leasehold improvemetiishvare amortized over the shorter of
estimated useful life or their respective leasmter

Years
Furniture and fixture 5-10
Equipment 35

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Gooduwill represents the excess of purchase priee favr value of net tangible assets acquired.dfffe January 1, 2002 we adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFHA&)142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” \'Wieasure for impairment at the
reporting unit level using a discounted cash floadel to determine the fair value of the reportimigs1 We will perform our goodwill
impairment test whenever events or changes in taatgcumstances indicate that impairment maytegisat least annually during the fourth
quarter each year.

Intangible assets are comprised of content, custéstg, non-competition agreements and favoraddsé rights. These intangible assets are
considered to have definite useful lives and amegbamortized on a straight line basis over thesetgd periods to be benefited, generally
three to five years for content, two to three ydarsustomer lists, six months to two years fon{tompetition agreements, and over the [¢
term for favorable lease rights. Our weighted ageramortization period is 3.5 years. Favorabledemhts represent the difference between
contractual terms and market rates for obligatiomder lease contracts at the date of acquisitigangible assets are reviewed for impairn
whenever events or changes in facts or circumssaincécate that the carrying amount of the assetg mot be recoverable.

Other Assets

Other assets are comprised of the long term podi@ontent development fees and feature enhandspeerd other assets of a long term
nature.

Long-Lived Assets

We account for assets of a long term nature (“lived assets”) in accordance with SFAS No. 144,¢éunting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which requires thatmpanies consider whether events or changestis dad circumstances, both internally
and externally, may indicate that an impairmeribaf-lived assets held for use are present. We mmeasy impairment at the reporting unit
level based on discounted future cash flows froeréporting unit including the long-lived assetaeTash flow estimates and discount rates
incorporate management’s best estimates, usingppate and customary assumptions and projectibtiealate of evaluation.

Management periodically evaluated the carrying eafilongtived assets, including property and equipmenteossets and intangible as
and determined that there was no impairment aseeébber 31, 2004 and 2003.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Accounts Receivable-Unbilled and Deferred Revenue

Accounts receivable-unbilled represents revenueeebior contracts accounted for on the percentédgempletion basis for which invoices
have not been generated or billing milestonesdtatéhe contract have not been reached. Defeaeehue represents amounts, which have
been billed or collected, but not yet recognizecewvenue.

Income Taxes

Income taxes have been provided using the liabiligthod in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounfior Income Taxes.” Under the
liability method, deferred tax assets and liataitare determined based on the temporary diffesdmteveen the financial statement and tax
bases of assets and liabilities measured at tax that will be in effect for the year in which ttiéferences are expected to affect taxable
income. Valuation allowances are established wiszessary to reduce deferred tax assets to amoypested to be realized.

Commercial Support Liabilities

Commercial support liabilities represent grant fsineceived from entities supporting educationdlaigs, such as live events, in which we
are the accredited provider. The funds are unoésttj and are primarily used to pay for pass-thnoexpenses.

Advertising

We expense the costs of advertising as incurregdordance with SOP 93-7, “Reporting on Advertistugts.” Advertising expense for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002ppasxdmately $226,000, $413,000, and $483,000 aetdyely.

Product Development Costs

Product development costs include internal andreateosts to develop and convert content for aterhet-based learning and installed
learning management products. We capitalize theafaontent and features developed by third pattibere the life expectancy is greater
than one year and the anticipated cash flows frach sontent or feature is expected to exceed &6 Buring 2004 and 2003, we capitalized
approximately $900,000 and $400,000, respectivelgted to third party content and feature develepnecompleted by third parties.
Capitalized content development costs are includélde accompanying consolidated balance sheetsruhd captions “prepaid development
fees” and “other assets.” Capitalized feature dgwelent costs are included in the accompanying diolased balance sheets under the
captions “other prepaid expenses and other cuassets” and “other assets.” We amortize contenfeatdre development over its expected
life, which is generally one to three years. Cottlzvelopment and feature development costs that been capitalized are subject to a
periodic impairment review in accordance with oaligy.

We account for Web site development costs in aesare with EITF Issue No. 00-2 “Accounting for Weke®evelopment Costs,” which
provides guidance on capitalization versus expgnsircosts incurred to develop a Web site. We adipé costs incurred between the poin
establishing technological feasibility and geneetdéase when such costs are material. As of Dece®ih@004 and 2003, we had no
capitalized internal development costs for compstdtware developed for resale. We did not capgisadiny internal Web site development
costs during 2004 or 2003, since the costs relat@thnning or operation of such products and siteg costs incurred with respect to our
Internet-based learning products and Web sites imetgred prior to the application of EITF Issue.96-2.

Net Loss Per Share

We compute net loss per share following SFAS N8, 12arnings Per Share.” Under the provisions at&hent 128, basic net loss per share
is computed by dividing the net loss availabledonmon shareholders for the period by the weightedsge number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net lossgiere is computed by dividing the net loss forgegod by the weighted average number of
common and common equivalent shares outstandinggltire period. Common equivalent shares, composattremental common shares
issuable upon the exercise of stock options andants, escrowed or restricted shares, and shabgcsto vesting are included in diluted net
income per share to the extent these shares at&veilCommon equivalent shares are not includegtdércomputation of diluted net loss per
share for the years ended December 31, 2004, 200132002 because the effect on net loss per sharg Wwe anti-dilutive.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Custaners

We place our temporary excess cash investmeniglinguality, short-term money market instrumentstites, such investments may be in
excess of the FDIC insurance limits.

We sell our learning management systems and othara¢ion services to various companies in the heafe industry that are located in the
United States. We perform ongoing credit evaluatiohour customerdinancial condition and generally require no catal from customer:
We have one significant customer, HCA, who compriggproximately 15%, or $2.9 million, of net reveauuring 2004, approximately
15%, or $2.7 million, of net revenues during 2083 approximately 18%, or $2.9 million, of net newes during 2002. The total amounts
receivable from HCA at December 31, 2004 and 208Bwapproximately $540,000 and $330,000, respégtikarther, in 2005, a number of
significant customers, including HCA, are subjectontract renewal.

Stock Based Compensation

We grant stock options for a fixed number of shémesmployees and other parties with an exerciee piot less than the fair value of the
shares at the grant date. We account for stockmpgtiants in accordance with Accounting Princifdesrd Opinion (APB) No. 25

“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and tesfiainterpretations. Under APB 25, because thecesesprice of our employee stock
options is not less than the market price of thegeullying stock on the date of grant, no compenaaipense is recorded. To the extent that
options are issued to members of our advisory Isoareshon-employees, the value of such options &ssured in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stockd®d Compensation.” During the years ended Dece&ih@004, 2003, and 2002, we
recorded expense of $-0-, 5,412, and $16,796 ragpls related to options granted to advisory lbbaembers and non-employees. We have
disclosed the fair value recognition requiremefitStatement 123 and the additional disclosure requénts as specified in SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transitiol Disclosure,” which amends Statement 123.

If the alternative method of accounting for stog&entive plans prescribed by Statement 123 had falewed, our net loss and net loss per
share would have been:

Year Ended December 2

2004 2003 2002

Net loss as reporte $(1,048,38() $(3,412,03) $(16,641,24)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expensgdiedlin reported net loss, net of related

taxes — 5,412 16,79¢
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensatioaresgpdetermined under fair value based

method for all awards net of related tax effe (454,57) (699,38 (842,51)
Pro forma net los $(1,502,95) $(4,106,00) $(17,466,95)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh- as reported: $ (0.05) $ (0.17) $ (0.82)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh- pro forma* $ (0.07) $ (0.20) $ (0.8¢€)

* The net loss per share as reported and pro fortrlasseper share for the year ended December 3P, @ludes a $5.0 million or ($0.25)
per share charge related to a cumulative effeatafange in accounting princip

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following methods and assumptions were usedtimating fair value for financial instruments:

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted caee carrying amounts approximate the fair valueahse of the short-term maturity or short-term
nature of such instruments.

Accounts receivable, accounts receivi-unbilled, interest receivable, accounts payabtzraed liabilities and deferred revenughe
carrying amounts, net of any allowance for doubdftdounts, approximate the fair value becauseeo§hiort-term nature of such instruments.

Notes receivableThe carrying amounts approximate fair value basethe consideration provided and the estimatedideration expected
to be receivec



Investments in marketable securitiThe carrying amounts approximate the fair valueslas quoted market prices.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Newly Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Stansl&uolrd (FASB) issued Statement of Financial ActiogrStandards No. 123®, “Share-
Based Payments.” Statement 123® supersedes Acangurttinciples Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accourgifor Stock Issued to
Employees,” and will require companies to recogrizmpensation expense, using a fair-value basedasetor costs related to share-based
payments, including stock options. The Statemeeffective in the first interim or annual reportipgriod beginning after June 15, 2005. The
Company intends to adopt Statement 123® in the tniiarter of 2005, and to implement it on a propedasis. We are currently assessing
the impact the Statement will have on our constdidaesults of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No0.153, HBrges of Nonmonetary Assets,” which amends APBIiOpiNo. 29. The guidance
in APB 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactignis based on the principle that exchanges of rametary assets should be measured
based on the fair value of the assets exchangedamiendment made by Statement 153 eliminates teptan for exchanges of similar
productive assets and replaces it with a broadezmion for exchanges of nonmonetary assets thabtlbave commercial substance. The
provisions of the statement are effective for exgjes taking place in fiscal periods beginning aftere 15, 2005. We do not believe the
adoption of this Statement will have a material &ipon our consolidated financial position or resaf operations.

2. SHAREHOLDERS'’ EQUITY

Common Stock

We are authorized to issue up to 75 million shafeommon stock.
Preferred Stock

We are authorized to issue up to 10 million shafgmeferred stock in one or more series, havirgréhative voting powers, designations,
preferences, rights and qualifications, limitati@ngestrictions, and other terms as the Boardicéddors may fix in providing for the issuan
of such series, without any vote or action of thareholders. During 2000, all outstanding shargeeferred stock were converted into
common stock in connection with our IPO. There haeen no shares of preferred stock outstanding sincIPO.

Warrants

In connection with a distribution agreement duri®@99, we provided a business partner with a watmaptirchase 245,032 shares of our
common stock at $4.06 per share. The warrantseekpitune 2009. The issuance of the warrants egsirtthe recognition of approximately
$748,000 of product development expense in 199%&tbof the 1999 warrant has been exercised Becémber 31, 2004.

3. IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2002@08, we performed impairment assessments of ogrlived assets including
identifiable intangibles with finite useful live¥/e recorded an impairment charge in our HCO busineg of approximately $105,000 duri
2002 related to prepaid content development feleis. dharge reflected the expectation that the cagryalue of the related content exceeded
the anticipated undiscounted cash flows to be geeeéifrom the sale of the content. There was naimyent of long-lived assets during the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2
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4. INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE SECURITIES

At December 31, 2004, investments in marketablargags, which were all classified as available-fate and considered to be short-term
based on management’s intent of holding such geufor less than 12 months, included the follayvin

Amortized Cost Unrealized Losse Unrealized Gains  Fair Value

Auction Rate Securitie $ 14,025,00 $ — $ — $14,025,00

At December 31, 2003, investments in marketablaritezs, which were all classified as available-$ate, included the following:

Amortized Cost Unrealized Losse Unrealized Gains  Fair Value

Auction Rate Securitie $ 11,000,00 $ — $ — $11,000,00
Corporate debt securiti 1,755,63! — 4,30¢ 1,759,94.
Foreign corporate debt securit 1,196,59. — 1,167 1,197,76

$13,952,22 $ — $ 5,47% $13,957,70

The scheduled maturities of the above auctiongaterities at December 31, 2004 is shown below:

Mature after one but before five yei $14,025,00

5. GOODWILL

We account for goodwill under the provisions oft&taent 142, which specifies the approach and tifongvaluating impairment of
intangible assets, and also requires that gootiwitested for impairment at least annually usifgjravalue method. Effective January 1,
2002, we recorded a transitional goodwill impairtiess of $5.0 million in the HCO reporting unit, éonnection with our adoption of
Statement 142. The charge was recorded as a civeudditect of a change in accounting principle ur oonsolidated statement of operations.

We test goodwill for impairment using a discountagh flow model. The technique used to determiadatin value of our reporting units is
sensitive to estimates and assumptions associdtied¢ash flow from operations and its growth, disgbrates, and reporting unit terminal
values. If these estimates or their related assomgpthange in the future, we may be required ¢corceadditional impairment charges, which
could adversely impact our operating results ferglriod in which such a determination is made.paféorm our annual impairment
evaluation of goodwill during the fourth quarterazfch year and as changes in facts and circumstardieate impairment exists. During our
annual impairment evaluation in the fourth quaotfe2004 and 2003, the results of our goodwill irpegnt analysis indicated the fair value
our reporting units exceeded their carrying valUéerefore no impairment existed at December 3Q42hd 2003.

A reconciliation of the net loss and net loss pers information for the years ended December 32422003 and 2002, adjusted for the
provisions of Statement 142, net of the relatedrime tax effect, follows:

Years ended
December 31 December 31 December 31

2004 2003 2002
Reported net los $(1,048,38() $(3,412,03) $(16,641,24)
Adjusted for cumulative effect of a change in aatmng principle — — 5,000,001
Adjusted net los $(1,048,38() $(3,412,03) $(11,641,24)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh
Reported net loss per sh— basic and dilute: $ (0.05) $ 0.179) $ (0.82)
Adjusted for cumulative effect of a change in aatmg principle — — 0.2F
Adjusted net loss per she— basic and dilute: $ (0.05) $ (0.17) $ (0.57)

41




Table of Contents

HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

5. GOODWILL (continued)

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfer years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 aol @8

HCO PMD Total
Balance at January 1, 20 $1,982,96. $1,323,72° $3,306,68
Changes in carrying value of goodw — — —
Balance at December 31, 2C $1,982,96. $1,323,72° $3,306,68:
HCO PMD Total
Balance at January 1, 20 $1,982,96. $1,323,72° $3,306,68:
Changes in carrying value of goodw — — —
Balance at December 31, 2C $1,982,96. $1,323,72° $3,306,68:

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

All intangible assets have been evaluated in aeourel with Statement 142 and are considered tofiratesuseful lives. The intangibles are
being amortized over their original useful liveanging from one to five years. Amortization of imggble assets was approximately $344,000,
$1,140,000, and $1,916,000 for the years endedrblaee31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Estichamortization expense for the year
ended December 31, 2005 is approximately $166,000.

Identifiable intangible assets are comprised offttlewing:

As of December 31, 200
Accumulated

As of December 31, 200
Accumulated

Gross Amount Amortization Net Gross Amount Amortization Net
Content $ 3,500,000 $(3,350,00) $150,00( $ 3,500,000 $(3,050,00) $450,00(
Customer list: 2,940,000 (2,940,000 — 2,940,000 (2,930,27) 9,72:
Other 422 14: (405,92  16,22( 422 14 (371,58)  50,56(
Total $ 6,862,14; $(6,695,92) $166,22( $ 6,862,14. $(6,351,86) $510,28.

7. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We have two reportable segments, services provimédalthcare organizations and professionals (H&@)services provided to
pharmaceutical and medical device companies (PNIBg.accounting policies of the segments are thesenthose described in Note 1,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” We nee and operate our business segments based martkets they serve and the
products and services provided to those marketsst8ntially all sales from both business unitsmy2004 were made to customers in the

United States.

The following is our business segment informatisrohand for the years ended December 31, 2004 208 2002. We measure segment
performance based on operating loss before incarestand prior to the allocation of corporate ogathexpenses, interest expense, and

depreciation.

Year ended December 31, 2004

HCO PMD Unallocated Consolidated

Revenues, ne¢ $13,998,81 $6,068,49( $ — $20,057,30
Cost of revenue 2,826,44. 3,865,54! 585,18 7,277,17.
Product developmel 2,008,00 378,56 144,60: 2,531,17
Sales and marketir 3,564,67. 1,024,40 209,60t 4,798,68
Depreciation and amortizatic 338,01: 402,53( 1,366,211 2,106,75!
Other general and administrati 173,24¢ 115,82 4,345,30 4,634,37
Segment income (loss) from operatic $ 5,078,431 $ 281,61t $(6,650,91) $(1,290,86
*Segment asse $ 6,617,60. $4,254,68: $17,684,81 $28,557,10
Purchases of property and equipm $ 608,20 $ 340,13: $ 672,57 $ 1,620,90
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7. BUSINESS SEGMENTS (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2003

HCO PMD Unallocated Consolidated

Revenues, ne¢ $12,016,44 $6,178,631 $ — $18,195,07
Cost of revenue 2,183,47' 3,569,04. 515,22: 6,267,74
Product developmel 1,930,76! 900,02( 416,46t 3,247,241
Sales and marketir 3,143,44. 1,113,71! 187,83t 4,444 .99
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,211,57 432,01: 1,403,87 3,047,46!
Other general and administrati 181,35: 225,36: 4,579,60: 4,986,31
Segment income (loss) from operatic $ 3,365,82 $ (61,527 $(7,103,00) $(3,798,69)
*Segment asse $ 5,037,09: $4,617,84' $18,743,70 $28,398,64
Purchases of property and equipm $ 22183 $ 178,56: $ 320,08: $ 720,48.

Year ended December 31, 20C

HCO PMD Unallocated Consolidated

Revenues, ne¢ $9,748,52' $6,041,06! $ — $15,789,59
Cost of revenue 1,919,36. 3,688,47 362,66 5,970,49
Product developmel 3,241,341 656,19! 781,27¢ 4,678,82
Sales and marketir 4,859,47  1,493,29! 72,25¢ 6,425,02!
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,280,59 480,917 1,632,95 4,394,46
Other general and administrati 1,126,05. 945,75(  4,337,77. 6,409,57
Office consolidation charg 164,78: — — 164,78:
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 105,00( — — 105,00(
Segment loss from operatio $(3,948,08) $(1,223,56) $(7,186,92) $(12,358,57)
*Segment asse $6,128,78 $5,985,37. $20,799,06 $ 32,913,21
Purchases of property and equipm $ 308, 77( $ 177,39' $§ 139,36: $§ 625,53!

* Segment assets include restricted cash, accamatsinbilled receivables, prepaid and other cumeséts, other assets, property and
equipment, and intangible assets. Investments nketable securities and cash and cash equivalemtsod allocated to individual segments,
and are included within Unallocated.

8. INCOME TAXES

Income tax benefit differs from the amounts comguig applying the federal statutory rate of 34%ht loss before income taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Tax benefit at the statutory re $(356,44%) $(1,200,91) $(5,658,02)
State income tax benefit, net of federal ber (39,63) (114,179 (412,340)
Nondeductible amortizatic — 210,13¢ 2,108,001
Other (94,67() 69,41: 67,60:
Increase in valuation allowan 490,75( 1,035,53: 3,894,76!
$ — $ — $ —
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8. INCOME TAXES (continued)

Deferred federal and state income taxes reflechétie¢ax effects of temporary differences betwéencarrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane timounts used for income tax purposes. Significamiponents of deferred tax assets are as
follows:

December 31

2004 2003
Deferred tax asset
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 88,98: $§ 105,83:
Differences related to business combinati 1,353,30; 1,477,88.
Depreciatior 316,86! 80,04:
Accrued liabilities 290,19: 244 ,45.
Difference related to warran 1,227,38: 1,227,38:
Research and development cre 257,25: 180,54(
Other 12,31¢ 8,711
Net operating loss carryforwar 16,264,28 15,994,98
Total deferred tax asse 19,810,58 19,319,83
Less: Valuation allowanc (19,810,58) (19,319,83)
Net deferred tax ass $ — $ —

As of December 31, 2004 we had federal and stdtepezating loss carryforwards of $43,711,587 a8%,@68,537, respectively. These los
will expire in years 2012 through 2024. A portiditltese losses may be subject to limitation infeityears.

We have established a valuation allowance for defetax assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003pdbe tincertainty of realizing these
assets in the future. No federal or state incom@&yments were made during the years ended Deecetbh2004, 2003, and 2002.

9. STOCK OPTION PLAN

Our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (2000 Plan) and 1®®4loyee Stock Option Plan (1994 Plan) (the 20@M Rhd the 1994 Plan are
collectively referred to as “the Plan”) authoribe tgrant of options or other forms of stock-basmdmensation to employees, officers,
directors, and others and such grants must be eggtny the Compensation Committee of the Boardicgddors. The terms of both plans are
substantially similar. Options granted under thenfiave terms of no more than ten years with cerégitrictions. The Plan allows the Board
of Directors to determine the vesting period oftegrant. The vesting period of the options gramgejes from immediate vesting (generally
associated with professional consulting boardsdarettors’options), to annual vesting over four years, beigipione year after the grant d
(generally for employee and officer options). Imnection with the 2000 Plan, 5,000,000 shares heaea reserved for issuance, bringing the
total shares reserved for issuance through thetBI&©00,000 shares. During 2002, the 1994 Planamzended to exclude forfeited shares
from shares available for future grants. This amest reduced the number of shares available fardugrants by 1,934,750 through
December 31, 2004.

The weighted average fair value of options gramiad estimated using the Bla8icholes method. The weighted average assumpti@asfor
these estimates include:

2004 2003 2002
Risk-free interest rat 2.5(-3.5(% 2.5(% 4.2%
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Expected life (in years 5 5 5
Volatility 75% 60% 60%

The estimated weighted average fair values of aptgranted during 2004, 2003 and 2002 using theeapiicing models were $1.60, $0.93,
and $0.75, respectively.
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9. STOCK OPTION PLAN (continued)

A progression of activity and various other infotioa relative to stock options is presented inttige below.

2004 2003 2002

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

Common Average Common Average Common Average
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding- beginning of periot 2,840,880 $ 3.26 2,987,38 $ 3.6¢ 2,816,71 $ 4.17
Granted 450,00( 2.5¢ 605,00( 1.4C 570,00( 1.3¢
Exercisec (121,509 1.22 (88,319 1.7¢ - -
Expired (19,009) 5.8 (140,68 5.12 (50,049 4.5¢
Forfeited (346,55 3.0: (522,499 3.17 (349,289 3.65
Outstandine end of perioc 2,803,810 $ 3.27 2,840,888 $ 3.26 2,987,388 $ 3.6¢
Exercisable at end of perit 1,99343 $ 3.81 1,872,29 $ 3.91 1,755,67 $ 4.0¢

During 2002, we issued 11,500 stock options toamwisory boards at per share exercise prices 80%$In connection with this grant we
recognized compensation expense of approximately4®0 in 2002.

Shares of common stock available for future gréotied 2,728,229 at December 31, 2004. Exercisepper share and various other
information for options outstanding at DecemberZ104 are segregated into ranges as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted Average Weighted Average
Number of Exercise Price Remaining Number of Exercise Price
Range of Exercise Price Shares Per Share Contractual Life Shares Per Share
$0.54- $1.19 212,30( $ 1.07 4.4 207,300 $ 1.07
$1.20- $2.38 1,345,22! 1.7¢C 44 896,35 1.8¢
$2.39- $3.57 369,00( 2.71 7.1 12,50( 2.67
$3.58- $4.76 338,55( 4.0¢€ 2.7 338,55( 4.0¢€
$4.77- $5.95 79,00( 5.4z 345 79,00( 5.4z
$5.96- $7.13 224,77 6.4¢ 3.C 22477 6.4<
$8.33- $9.50 78,361 8.94 4.8 78,36! 8.94
$9.51- $10.70 81,40( 10.0C 3.2 81,40( 10.0¢
$10.71- $11.89 75,19¢ 11.8¢ 3.2 75,19¢ 11.8¢
2,803,811 $ 3.27 4.€ 1,993,43' $ 3.81

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
401(k) Plan

We have a defined-contribution employee benefit [¢#01(k) Plan) incorporating provisions of Sectitfil (k) of the Internal Revenue Code.
Our employees must have attained the age of 2hawel completed thirty days of service to be elgilol participate in the 401(k) Plan. Un
the provisions of the 401(k) Plan, a plan membey make contributions, on a tax-deferred basistmexceed 15% of compensation, subject
to IRS limitations. The Company elected to provétigible employees with a discretionary contribatiotaling approximately $73,000 for
year ended December 31, 2004. The Company hasmatipd matching contributions through December28D4.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purchase Plamiporates the provisions of Section 423 of therhmdl Revenue Code. Under the
Purchase Plan, 1,000,000 shares of common stoekbeen reserved for purchase by employees. Théd@sedlan provides for annual offer
periods of twelve months to eligible employees. &irithe Purchase Plan, eligible employees can psectimough payroll deductions, the
lesser of up to 15% of their eligible base compgosar 2,500 shares of common stock, at a pricavadent to 85% of the lesser of the
beginning or end of year price. During 2004 and@D,266 and 44,740 shares were purchased uralptah at a price per share of $0.8¢
both plan years.
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11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitments

We lease office facilities in Nashville, TN, Deny&O, and Dallas, TX, under agreements that eXygfere or during March 2010. The
Dallas, TX facility is subleased to a third paittydugh the expiration of the original lease, whéctds January 2007. The Nashville, TN lease
expires in April 2005 and provides for two five-yeganewal options. Some lease agreements contaitisons for escalating rent payments
over the initial terms of the lease. We accountli@se leases by recognizing rent expense onrtightline basis and adjusting the deferred
rent expense liability for the difference betweke straight-line rent expense and the amount dfppaid. The Company also leases certain
office equipment under both operating and capi#asés. Total rent expense under all operatingdemas approximately $490,000, $475,000,
$560,000, for the years ended December 31, 20@8, 20hd 2002, respectively. We also lease certaimpater equipment from third parties
which are accounted for as capital leases.

Future rental payment commitments at December @14 2nder capital and non-cancelable operatingtasith initial terms of one year or
more, are as follows:

Capital Lease: Operating Lease

2005 $ 29,02( $ 469,83
2006 29,02( 210,08
2007 2,41¢ 118,63
2008 — 107,70
2009 — 107,70:
Thereafte — 26,92¢
Total minimum lease paymer 60,45¢ $ 1,040,89
Less amounts representing intel (6,919

Present value of minimum lease payments (inclu@i2gy113 classified as currel $ 53,54

Sublease rental income related to the Dallas, TXif\awas approximately $73,500 in 2004 and $79,602003. Future operating lease
commitments have been reduced by sublease incoaggpodximately $71,700 in both 2005 and 2006 an@&900 in 2007.

The carrying value of assets under capital leagkigh are included with owned assets in the accoyipg consolidated balance sheets was
$54,962 and $35,289 at December 31, 2004 and 28§3ectively. Amortization of the assets undercéygtal leases is included in
depreciation expense on the accompanying consetidattements of operations.

Litigation

We are subject to various legal proceedings arithsléhat arise in the ordinary course of our bussnén the opinion of management, the
ultimate liability with respect to those proceedirand claims will not materially affect our finaakposition, operations or liquidity.

12. LOSS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted net loss per share:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Numerator:

Net loss $(1,048,38() $(3,412,03) $(16,641,24)
Denominator

Weightec-average shares outstand 20,585,82 20,383,13 20,261,06

Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ (0.05) $ (0.17) $ (0.82)

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, @@} #te calculation of weighted average and egentahares excluded options, warre
and restricted stock because such items wereddative. The equivalent common shares relateduth ©ptions, warrants, and restricted s
were 3,048,842 in 2004, 3,092,978 in 2003, and&52# in 2002.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéunting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Controls and Procedures

HealthStream’s chief executive officer and printip@ancial officer have reviewed and evaluatedéffectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as defineduiaRL3a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated undebéuarities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”))as of December 31, 2004. Based on that evaludtierghief executive officer and principal finanoiéicer have conclude
that HealthStream’s disclosure controls and proesiaffectively and timely provide them with maaé¢information relating to HealthStream
required to be disclosed in the reports Health&triles or submits under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in HealthStream’s internatrobover financial reporting that occurred durihg fourth quarter of 2004 that have
materially affected, or that are reasonably likelynaterially affect, HealthStream'’s internal cohtver financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.

PART IlI
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information as to directors of the Company is ipavated by reference from the information contaimeolur proxy statement for the 2005
Annual Meeting of Stockholders that we will filettvithe Securities and Exchange Commission withihd&ys of the end of the fiscal yeal
which this report relates. Pursuant to Generatuieibn G(3), certain information concerning ex@geiofficers of the Company is included
Part | of this Form 10-K, under the caption “ExéeetOfficers of the Registrant.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated by reference from the information eamd in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annuaétifey of Stockholders that we will fi
with the Securities and Exchange Commission witt#ii days of the end of the fiscal year to whick teport relates.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ainagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Incorporated by reference from the information eamgd in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annuaétifey of Stockholders that we will fi
with the Securities and Exchange Commission witt#ih days of the end of the fiscal year to whick teport relates.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Incorporated by reference from the information eamed in our proxy statement for the 2005 AnnuaéMey of Stockholders that we will fi
with the Securities and Exchange Commission witt#ih days of the end of the fiscal year to whick teport relates.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Incorporated by reference from the information eamd in our proxy statement for the 2005 AnnuaéMey of Stockholders that we will fi
with the Securities and Exchange Commission witt#ih days of the end of the fiscal year to whick teport relates.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(2) Financial Statemen
Reference is made to the financial statementsdieclun Item 8 to this Report on Form-K.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedt

All schedules are omitted because they ar@mglicable or the required information is showrhie Consolidated Financial
Statements or the notes there

(a)(3) Exhibits

Number Description

*2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated July 23, 1999, @®iverPlatter Education, Inc., SilverPlatter Imf@tion, Inc. and
HealthStream, Inc

*2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 5,,2800ng HealthStream, Inc., HealthStream Acquisitidnc., Quick Study,
Inc. and each shareholder of Quick Study,

*2.3 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 16, 488%g KnowledgeReview, LLC, Louis Bucelli and MakdRepik, and
HealthStream, Inc

*2.4 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 25) 2@tbong HealthStream, Inc., HealthStream Acquisitipinc., Multimedia
Marketing, Inc., and the stockholders of MultimeMarketing, Inc.

*2.5 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated January 27, 2880@eén Emergency Medicine Internetwork, Inc. andlti&tream, Inc

*3.1 Form of Fourth Amended and Restated Charter oftH8&kam, Inc

*3.2 Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of HealthStréam

*4.1 Form of certificate representing the common stockpar value per share, of HealthStream,

4.2 Article 7 of the Fourth Amended and Restated Chi— included in Exhibit 3.:

4.3 Article 1l of the Amended and Restated Byla— included in Exhibit 3.:

*4.4 Warrant to purchase common stock of HealthStream, tlated June 14, 1999, held by GE Medical Syst

*4.6 Common Stock Purchase Agreement between HealtmSttaa. and Healtheon/WebMD Corporati

*10.1° 1994 Employee Stock Option Plan, effective as ofil&b, 1994

*10.2" 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, effective as of Apri| 2000

*10.30 Form of Indemnification Agreeme

*10.4" Executive Employment Agreement, dated April 21,9,98%etween HealthStream, Inc. and Robert A. Fiis

*10.5 Lease dated March 27, 1995, as amended June 6 ah89September 22, 1998, between Cummins Stati@) ak landlord, and
NewOrder Media, Inc., as tene

*+10.6  Development and Distribution Agreement between ti&iteam, Inc. and GE Medical Syste
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Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized on this 17th day of March 2005.

HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

By: /s/ ROBERTA. FRIST, (R.

Robert A. Frist, Jr
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datlisdted:

Signature Title(s) Date

/s/ RoBERTA. FRIST, JR. President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman March 17, 2005
(Principal Executive Officer)

Robert A. Frist, Jr

/s/ ARTHUR E. NEWMAN Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer, March 17, 2005
Compliance Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Arthur E. Newmar

/sl SusAaN A. BROWNIE Senior Vice-President of Finance and Human March 17, 2005
Resources, Corporate Secretary (Principal Accog

Susan A. Brownit Officer)

/s! EFFReEY L. MCLAREN Director March 17, 2005

Jeffrey L. McLarer

/s/ HN DAYANI Director March 17, 2005
John Dayan
/s] AMES DANIELL Director March 17, 2005

James Danie

/s/ WiLLIAM STEAD Director March 17, 2005
William Stead
/s] M. FazLE HUSAIN Director March 17, 2005

M. Fazle Husair

/s/ THoMPSONDENT Director March 17, 2005




Thompson Den

/s/ LINDA REBROVICK Director

Linda Rebrovick

/s/ FRANK GORDON Director

Frank Gordor

/s/ RoN HINDs Director

Ron Hinds
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*2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated July 23, 1999, g@@®iverPlatter Education, Inc., SilverPlatter Imf@tion, Inc. and
HealthStream, Inc

*2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 5,,2800ng HealthStream, Inc., HealthStream Acquisitjdnc., Quick Study,
Inc. and each shareholder of Quick Study,

*2.3 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 16, 488%g KnowledgeReview, LLC, Louis Bucelli and MakdRepik, and
HealthStream, Inc

*2.4 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 25) 2étbong HealthStream, Inc., HealthStream Acquisitipinc., Multimedia
Marketing, Inc., and the stockholders of Multimeiarketing, Inc.

*2.5 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated January 27, 2680Ge&n Emergency Medicine Internetwork, Inc. andlthi&tream, Inc

*3.1 Form of Fourth Amended and Restated Charter oftHS&kam, Inc

*3.2 Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of HealthStréam

*4.1 Form of certificate representing the common stockpar value per share, of HealthStream,

4.2 Article 7 of the Fourth Amended and Restated Chi— included in Exhibit 3.:

4.3 Article 1l of the Amended and Restated Byla— included in Exhibit 3.

*4.4 Warrant to purchase common stock of HealthStream, tlated June 14, 1999, held by GE Medical Syst

*4.6 Common Stock Purchase Agreement between HealtmSttea. and Healtheon/WebMD Corporati

*10.17 1994 Employee Stock Option Plan, effective as ofilAb, 1994

*10.2" 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, effective as of Apri] 2000

*10.3" Form of Indemnification Agreeme

*10.4" Executive Employment Agreement, dated April 21,9,98%etween HealthStream, Inc. and Robert A. Fiis

*10.5 Lease dated March 27, 1995, as amended June 6 ah89SGeptember 22, 1998, between Cummins Stati@ ak landlord, and
NewOrder Media, Inc., as tene

*+10.6  Development and Distribution Agreement between ti&iteam, Inc. and GE Medical Syste

*+10.7  Education Services Provider Agreement dated Octbp2001 between HealthStream, Inc. and HCA Infdionarechnology &
Systems, Inc

*10.8 Form of Employee Stock Purchase F

710.9 Form of Director Stock Option Agreeme

710.10  Form of Employee and Executive Officer Stock Optikgreemen

710.11  Form of Cash Bonus Pl:

*21.1 Subsidiaries of HealthStream, It

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursiiao Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z



32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z

+ Confidential treatment was received with respedeidain portions of this document. Such portioeseromitted and filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Conimnis

* Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Registration Statement on For-1 (Reg. No. 33-88939).
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EXHIBIT 10.9

FORM OF DIRECTOR STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
2000 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

OPTION GRANTED THIS DAY OF , 200__ ("GRANT DATE") BY
HEALTHSTREAM, INC. (THE "COMPANY") TO Optionee (THE "DIRECTOR").

1. Stock Option. The Company hereby grants to tinedibr an option (the "Option") to purchase up to shares of the common stock of
the Company, no par value, to be issued upon teecime of the Option, in the manner hereafteraghf fully paid and nonassessable. This
Option is being granted under the provisions ofGaenpany's 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plamtjich are incorporated herein by
reference. The Plan is administered by the Compiens@ommittee of the Board of Directors of the Guamy.

2. Time of Exercise. This Option shall be exerdisand have a term as follows:
(&) This Option shall expire on the tenth anniversd the Grant Date.
(b) One hundred percent (100%) of the shares gtamtder this Option shall vest and become exerig@sabthe Grant Date.

(c) This Option shall be exercisable only in theskr of round lots of One Hundred (100) sharebetdtal number of shares remaining under
this Grant.

3. Purchase Price. The purchase price per shaltdeha , being not less than the fair markétevaf the common stock as of the Grant
Date.

4. Rights as a Shareholder. The Director shall maveghts as a shareholder with respect to angeshaovered by this Option until the
Director has given written notice of exercise, pail in full for such shares and taken such oth&o@as as may be required by the Committee
in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. Njustment shall be made for dividends for whichréxerd date is prior to the date of
issuance of such stock certificate.

HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

The undersigned:

(a) Acknowledges receipt of the foregoing Optiod #me attachments referenced therein and undessthatall rights and liabilities with
respect to this Option and the Plan; and

(b) Acknowledges that as of the date of grant of @ption, it sets forth the entire understandietpeen the undersigned Director and the
Company and its Affiliates regarding the acquisitaf stock in the Company pursuant to this graut supersedes all prior oral and written
agreements on that subject.

OPTIONEE



EXHIBIT 10.10

FORM OF EMPLOYEE AND EXECUTIVE OFFICER STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
2000 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

OPTION GRANTED THIS DAY OF , 200__ ("GRANT DATE") BY
HEALTHSTREAM, INC. (THE "COMPANY") TO Optionee (THE "EMPLOYEE").

1. Stock Option. The Company hereby grants to thelByee an option (the "Option") to purchase up to  shares of the common stock of
the Company, no par value, to be issued upon teeime of the Option, in the manner hereafterahf fully paid and nonassessable. This
Option is being granted under the provisions ofGeenpany's 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plamtjich are incorporated herein by
reference. The Plan is administered by the Compiens@ommittee of the Board of Directors of the Guamy.

2. Time of Exercise. This Option shall be exerdisand have a term as follows:

(a) This Option shall expire on the eighth anniaeyf the Grant Date.

(b) One fourth (1/4) of the shares granted under@ption shall vest and become exercisable offittteanniversary of the Grant Date.

(c) One half (1/2) of the shares granted under@puson shall vest and become exercisable on tbenseanniversary of the Grant Date.
(d) Three fourths (3/4) of the shares granted utiderOption shall vest and become exercisabléderittird anniversary of the Grant Date.

(e) The remaining one fourth (1/4) of the sharestgd under this Option shall vest and become &sadnie on the fourth anniversary of the
Grant Date.

(f) This Option shall be exercisable only in theser of round lots of One Hundred (100) sharebetdtal number of shares remaining under
this Grant.

3. Purchase Price. The purchase price per shaltdeha , being not less than the fair mavisiie of the common stock as of the Grant
Date.

4. Rights as a Shareholder. The Employee shall havaghts as a shareholder with respect to anseshzovered by this Option until the
Employee has given written notice of exercise,gwad in full for such shares and taken such oth@oms as may be required by the
Committee in accordance with the provisions ofRen. No adjustment shall be made for dividendsvoich the record date is prior to the
date of issuance of such stock certificate.

HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

The undersigned:

(a) Acknowledges receipt of the foregoing Optiod #me attachments referenced therein and undessthatall rights and liabilities with
respect to this Option and the Plan; and

(b) Acknowledges that as of the date of grant f @ption, it sets forth the entire understandiagMeen the undersigned Employee and the
Company and its Affiliates regarding the acquisitaf stock in the Company pursuant to this graut supersedes all prior oral and written
agreements on that subject.

OPTIONEE



EXHIBIT 10.11

FORM OF CASH BONUS PLAN
HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

Methodology

The primary financial measurement underlying owhdaonus plan will be EBITDA. This measure is inted to allow for comparability
between periods and generally will exclude the ichpé non-cash items or accounting changes. Ifetnues are less than 95% of budgeted
revenues, management will reduce the bonus cailcngby 5-10% depending on the extent and circumestof the unfavorable variance.
Only non-commissioned employees are eligible fatigpation in the cash bonus plan.

Method of Bonus Calculation

The calculation is based on the employee's levéérale within the company. Adjustments to the ckdtian may include discretionary
amounts related to product line responsibilitiep@rformance compared to budgeted results. Bonosiais shall be adjusted to reflect
movement from commissioned to non-commissionedrals well as leave of absences, employment feithes the entire year or other
changes in roles and responsibilities.

Participant Level descriptions and participation

Once results have exceeded budgeted EBITDA resdts)ses will begin to be earned. Calculationsdnyigipant shall be subject to the
following levels and participation:

Level 1-Includes all positions within the company thategrafly don't have managerial responsibilities asraponent of their job descriptic

(up to 5% of base compensation)

Level 2- Includes positions that have supervisory/ar project responsibilities and have the tifléanager. (up to 6.25% of base
compensation)

Level 3- Includes Business Directors and Vice Riesis. (up to 14% of base compensation)
Level 4- Includes the CEO and Senior Vice Presglguop to 14% of base compensation)

Bonus Amount - Any payout over the budgeted EBIT@#Aget will be self-funding (that is to say, bomagout would represent only a
portion of the incremental EBITDA achievement obadget).

Timing - The Plan will run from January 1 througkd@mber 31. A summary of the plan shall be provideall employees explaining the
plan.

Administration - The plan shall be administeredisyy Compensation Committee of the Board of Dirextor

Payout- On or about March 15 of the following year, coggént upon employment on the payment d



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-3744@&ppeng to the (1) HealthStream, Inc.
1994 Employee Stock Option Plan; (2) HealthStrelaa, 2000 Stock Incentive Plan; and (3) HealthStrelamc. Employee Stock Purchase

Plan, of our report dated February 16, 2005, wadpect to the consolidated financial statemenkseaithStream, Inc. included in the Annual
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Decembe2804.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Nashvi |l e, Tennessee
March 15, 2005



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Robert A. Frist, Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKlealthStream, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)}Heregistrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedortes designed under our supervisiol
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraigdosure controls and procedures and presentiadsineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psint based on such evaluation; and

c) disclosed in this report any change in the teayi$'s internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant's most re
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal daain the case of an annual report) that has madlteaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anthlve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commiteregistrant's board of directors (or personfopaing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefpwaincial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2005 /'s/ ROBERT A. FRI ST, JR

Robert A. Frist, Jr.
Chi ef Executive Oficer



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
[, Arthur E. Newman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKlealthStream, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)}Heregistrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedortes designed under our supervisiol
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraigdosure controls and procedures and presentiadsineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psint based on such evaluation; and

c) disclosed in this report any change in the teayi$'s internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant's most re
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal daain the case of an annual report) that has madlteaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anthlve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commiteregistrant's board of directors (or personfopaing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefpwaincial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2005 /'s/ ARTHUR E. NEWVAN

Arthur E. Newman
Chi ef Financial Oficer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of HealthSinednc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the yeadimg December 31, 2004, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the "Report"), Robert A. Frist, Jhje® Executive Officer of the Company
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,dapted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@deof 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExajeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphlgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl ROBERT A. FRIST, JR
Robert A. Frist, Jr.

Chi ef Executive Oficer
March 17, 2005



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of HealthSinednc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the yeadimg December 31, 2004, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the "Report"), Arthur E. Newman, Cligfancial Officer of the Company
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,dapted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@deof 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExajeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphlgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl ARTHUR E. NEWAN
Arthur E. Newman

Chi ef Financial Oficer
March 17, 2005
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